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As I write my report for 2021, the part of the country I am based in has been 
in a significant level of lockdown for 80 days. My small home office and the 

Zoom screen I spend most of my day looking into have lost their appeal. I am 
missing my work colleagues at the National Office, and also the opportunity my 
role provides of moving around the country to see first-hand the ministry and 
mission of Baptist faith communities. 

However, there is so much for me to be thankful for!

I am thankful to God. I recently preached a sermon from Psalm 34:8, “Taste and 
see that the Lord is good; blessed is the one who takes refuge in him.” Despite 
the difficult circumstances that we find ourselves in God has promised that he 
will never leave us or abandon us, that nothing will ever separate us from his 
love. This has been our testimony in 2021.    

I pray that God would continue to use the Baptist Union of 
New Zealand to bring gospel renewal.

I am thankful for our pastors and chaplains. I know that people have worked 
extremely hard this year in pastorally caring for those entrusted to them. I know 
that people have worked tirelessly to ensure those within our communities have 
the basics of food, shelter, and security. Thank you for taking the call upon your 
life so seriously. 

I pray that God would use Baptist faith communities to bring gospel 
renewal to their local neighbourhoods.

I am thankful for our regional Associations and their regional leaders and 
coaches. Our Regional Hui were definitely the highlight of my year—Baptist 
leaders coming together, despite our many differences, to encourage one 
another and explore ways we might better work together. A massive thanks 
to our Multicultural Ministries Advisory Group, our Youth and Children & Family 
points-people, and Orbit—your wisdom is greatly valued. 

I pray that God would continue to revitalise our regional Associations 
for the purpose of gospel renewal. 

I am thankful for my colleagues at the National Office in Penrose. Despite so 
much uncertainty our Administration Team of Carl, Sushila, Rebecca, Liz, 
Denise, Stephen, and Sarah (and Rangiaruaru and Fiona) have kept things 
running so smoothly. A special acknowledgement of Carl Dunwoody and Sushila 
Nelson who this year both celebrated 20 years of employment with the Baptist 
Union. This is quite remarkable—thank you for many years of faithful service. 

It is exciting to have our ‘Lead Team’ in place as we head into 2022—
Mike Crudge (communication), Kathryn Heslop (people and culture), Wayne 
Schache (operations and finance), Karen Warner (leadership co-ordination), 
and myself (national leader). I am so blessed to have Kathryn Heslop working 
alongside me—thanks for all the wisdom and care.  

I pray that the National Office would serve our Associations and faith 
communities well in their efforts to bring gospel renewal. 

NATIONAL  
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I am thankful for John Tucker and the team at Carey. The pastoral leadership 
students you commended to us this year were outstanding. As I mentioned 
on the day, “…intelligent, articulate, relevant, self-aware, and Jesus-
focused—I am genuinely excited about the future.” And the commendation 
to the Baptist Union of the first Ngā Pou Amorangi students from the College 
was hugely significant—congratulations to Kiwi Taranaki, Caleb Te Kahu, and 
Manaakinui Te Kahu. I am also keen to acknowledge the professional way 
Carey manages our registration process, and for the development opportunities 
they provide within the Centre for Lifelong Learning. The options for us are 
world-class.

I pray that God would raise up a new generation of Baptist gospel 
workers to bring gospel renewal in both Aotearoa New Zealand 
and beyond.

I am thankful for Alan Jamieson and the team at NZBMS. What a privilege 
to share the office with Kelly, Lorna, Shayla, and Steph! I give thanks to our 
overseas workers who have again shown us what it means to ‘take up your 
cross and follow me’ by sacrificially and courageously serving in the most 
difficult of COVID-19 circumstances. 

I pray that God would help NZBMS achieve their goal of mutual gospel 
renewal in people and places, in every corner of the world.

I am thankful for the governance boards who give their time voluntarily to help 
set our strategic direction and priorities, and manage our performance. I am 
keen to acknowledge Te Kapa Rautaki for the way they travelled the country 
in 2021 to listen carefully to the voice of Māori. I appreciate this has been an 
enormous task and we are very grateful. Thank you to our 2021 President—
Raewyn Moodie—we will miss your fun, pastoral care, and challenges!

I pray that God would give our governors a clear picture of the 
direction we must take to see gospel renewal achieved. 

And, I am thankful for the people and groups that provide us with financial 
leadership—like Christian Savings, CATAS, Association treasurers, and our 
many consultants.  

I pray that God would help us position our resources wisely to achieve 
the maximum return for gospel renewal.

How good is our God! May he continue to use us to bring honour and glory to 
his name. 

Charles
Charles Hewlett, National Leader
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I’m writing this with Auckland in Alert Level 3 and the rest of New Zealand in 
Alert Level 2. Yesterday alone, 25 people died of COVID-19 in Bangladesh, 

283 in India and 129 in Thailand. The local and global impacts of this pandemic, 
including the health, economic, and missional impacts, are immense, and will 
likely be felt for many years to come.  

Across the world churches and Christian leaders have faithfully led with courage 
and trust. Pastors have selflessly continued to show care and provide services 
despite any risk to themselves. They have continued to hold baptisms and 
wedding ceremonies, care for the sick and grieving, and conduct funerals. 
These actions have not been without cost. In Bangladesh 19 pastors have died 
of COVID-19; in India the number is at least 2211. As a global whānau, the 
Holy Spirit is calling us to pray, care and support one another; that is why we 
are here.

As an organisation, 2021 has been another big year for us. We continue to be 
thankful for your prayers, support and generosity.

OVERSEAS TEAM

In 2020 we had a number of our global team return to New Zealand. Throughout this 
last year it has been great to see them head back to their host countries refreshed and 
eager to return to their communities.

Andrew, Roanna, Noah, Miles and Theo returned to New Zealand in August. We are 
grateful for their seven years of service in Thailand where they were instrumental in 
establishing the WovenLife Foundation.

Paul, Sarah, Mikayla and Malachi plan to return to New Zealand later this year after 
spending 10 years in Kolkata where they founded The Loyal Workshop.

Both of these exceptional families have lived out their sense of call, established tangible 
expressions of gospel renewal and left an ongoing work to a growing local leadership. 
Well done!

NZ TEAM

Earlier this year, Andrew Page resigned as Tranzsend Team Leader to take up 
a pastoral position at Belmont Baptist. We are incredibly thankful to both Andrew and 
Andrea for their 18 years of work and dedication to NZBMS—both internationally and in 
New Zealand leadership. Not too long after saying goodbye to Andrew, we farewelled 
Rangiaruaru Hema from his National Administrator role with the Baptist Union. We are 
grateful for the enormous amount of work both he and Liz Wilson have put in to our 
accounts and finances.

We are pleased to welcome Dr Ann Borquist to the NZBMS team as our Pastoral 
Support Coordinator. Ann will ensure good systems are put in place to nurture the care 
and support of our global workers.

COMMUNICATIONS

In 2022 we are excited to launch a new look and focus for our annual appeal. 
Renamed ‘Renew Together’, we look forward to highlighting the ways we can join with 
God in His great plan of global renewal for everyone, everywhere.

If you haven’t already, we recommend you subscribe to our weekly ‘pray with us’ email. 
Kelly does a fantastic job of collating prayer requests and news items from our global 
team and beyond so that we can collectively be better informed and aware of global 
prayer needs. Once a month Kelly produces a two-minute video highlighting NZBMS 
news from that month. This is a great resource for church services and groups.

GENERAL  
DIRECTOR  
REPORT
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EVENTS

The four Regional Hui were a great encouragement. Alongside the chance to engage 
in meaningful conversations, the hui showcased the different regional flavours, 
companionship in gospel renewal, and the overwhelming goodness of God.

As a team, we were disappointed to cancel a two day hui focused on our work in 
Bangladesh. This was to be a prayer retreat focused on supporting and growing 
our New Zealand Baptist commitment to the Bangladesh Church. Please pray with 
us that God would call more Kiwi’s to join the international teams working alongside 
Bangladesh leaders and churches.

GLOBAL PROJECTS

In addition to the amounts budgeted for our global projects we were able to pass 
on a further $245,000 to our global projects and partners. This was made possible 
through generous giving, legacies, increased appeal support, and tight expenditure in 
New Zealand. We ask that you continue your generous support of us as we begin to 
roll out our new strategic plan.

JOYYA was launched in September after 
delays and setbacks. It has been a tough 
journey for those in Kolkata, made tougher 
through COVID-19, but there are hints of 
light at the end of the tunnel. The business is 
producing, sales are growing and the work in 
the communities has enlarged. Well done!

Thank you to all those who have prayed, given 
and supported the work of our local leaders 
in the host countries we serve and the global 
workers we have sent from New Zealand. It is 
a privilege to serve them in the work of gospel 
renewal with the New Zealand staff team and 
Mission Council who do the back room tasks 
supporting our frontline teams. 

Alan
Alan Jamieson, General Director
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CAREY 
PRINCIPAL 
REPORT

Carey is the theological college of the Baptist churches of New Zealand. 
We serve churches by training leaders for effective ministry and growing 

disciples for faithful witness. 

This year, in our formal NZQA-accredited programmes, we had a total of nearly 
300 students, with 55 being formed for leadership on one of our ministry and 
mission programmes. This year, for the first time, 50% of our students undertook 
their learning by distance.  

A blend of online technology, block courses, on-site classes, regional support 
hubs, and local supervisors, mean that all of our programmes, can now be fully 
accessed from any region in New Zealand. As of 2021 they include the following: 

Pastoral Leadership. This is an intensive three-year programme that is 
equipping the next generation of pastoral leaders for our churches. It consists of 
5 elements: biblical and theological learning, leadership and personal formation, 
ministry skill development, supervised pastoral experience, and personal 
mentoring from our ministry training team. 

Youth Pastoral Leadership. This is a three-year programme designed for those with 
a calling to pastoral ministry in a youth context. It mirrors, and is integrated with, the pastoral 
leadership programme. 

Ngā Pou Amorangi. This is a three-year programme designed to equip Māori Christians for servant 
leadership within te ao Māori. It is built around wānanga in Māori environments, service opportunities 
in Māori contexts, mentoring with Māori leaders, and biblical and theological study. This year we 
witnessed the first three graduates emerge from this programme. 

Mission Track. This is a one or two-year formation journey designed to shape and equip students for 
missional engagement. It consists of a weekly formation group, missional theology, missional practices, 
and personal mentoring from New Zealand’s premier missiologist. 

Ministry internships. These are either half-year, one-year or two-year programmes for emerging 
leaders in church or community contexts. We provide special streams for those with an interest in 
children and family ministry, youth ministry, or pastoral care. 

Discipleship for school leavers. Intermission is a one-year intentional discipleship programme for 
17-21-year-olds. It combines biblical and theological learning, ministry experiences, personal mentoring 
and peer formation to equip school leavers for a lifetime of faithful discipleship wherever Jesus leads. 

Theological formation. We provide a range of NZQA-accredited study pathways at both 
undergraduate and graduate levels for those who want to grow in their faith and discipleship. These 
pathways are all shaped by Carey’s distinctively integrative approach to theological learning—learning 
that integrates the resources of our faith (God’s word), the realities of our context (God’s world), and the 
rhythms of Christian life and leadership today (God’s work).  

Professional development and spiritual formation. Carey’s Centre for Lifelong Learning supports 
the ongoing development of Christian pastors and leaders through a combination of online courses, 
in-person courses, and on-demand resources. In 2021 the Centre recorded 761 registrations for these 
training resources. Increasingly we are seeing local churches using our live and interactive webinars in 
life groups and as part of their discipleship strategy. 

Carey exists to serve your church by training leaders for effective ministry and growing disciples for 
faithful witness. We’re grateful for the opportunity to serve you. Thank you for your ongoing support of 
the College.   

John
John Tucker, Principal
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Kia ora tatou, I have really enjoyed my year as president for the Baptist 
Churches of New Zealand. It began with not one Hui presentation of the 

taonga, but five out of seven one-day Local Gatherings around the motu. 
Someone joked I must be the most blessed president we have had, being 
prayed for five times! 

It has been a wonderful privilege to pray for, support and work alongside 
Charles, Alan and John in their wide-ranging leadership roles in our movement. 
They have a very unified, strong vision for seeing the gospel make a real 
difference in our faith communities, both in Aotearoa and overseas. 

It has been a year of major changes to structures and staffing, and we continue 
to look to God to bring the right people into place and to bind them together 
in unity by His Spirit. There are continuing reviews taking place to ensure that 
the Union structures are able to support regions and churches where it is most 
needed, to enable them to flourish in making disciples. 

It has been wonderful to experience the growing synergy across and between 
regions, with some new regional leaders in place. Attending the four three-day 
Regional Hui was a new but welcome addition to the president’s role, as it 
gave me a great opportunity to meet many leaders in smaller settings and to 
appreciate the unique strengths and challenges which each region embodies. 
I welcomed the opportunity to speak in some different churches and celebrate 
the wonderful mahi our people are doing.  

I have also been very encouraged to see the steps our Baptist movement is 
taking in Tiriti partnership to learn how we can steer the waka together for the 
gospel to thrive in all communities.   

Nga manaakitanga (blessings), 

Raewyn
Raewyn Moodie, Outgoing President

BAPTIST 
PRESIDENT  
REPORT
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This really should be Rangiaruaru Hema’s report as he was in this position 
until the end of the financial year. I was sad to see him go but you will be 

pleased to know he is doing really well at his new position with Kahui Tu Kaha, 
a large mental health provider that interestingly had its origins in our Baptist 
Mental Health service. 

I know he would want me to thank you for two things in particular. First, the 
contributions from churches to the Baptist Union were up this year and this 
led to a positive result. It has been heartening to reflect that in a tough year 
churches have been able and willing to contribute in the ways they have.  

Secondly, all churches spent a lot of time reviewing files for the Royal 
Commission of Inquiry into Abuse in Care. This was a major exercise for the 
National Centre requiring extra help to painstakingly go through dozens of 
boxes of archives as well as pulling together the church responses. While 
our result is comparatively small in number we have to remember every case 
represents a person that was abused. This is an indictment on the church and 
a reminder for us, particularly elderships, not to tolerate abuse no matter who 
the perpetrator is. 

It has been wonderful to see the placement of new Regional Leaders across the 
country and the revitalisation of defunct Associations. The generous contribution 
of the Northern region two years ago enabled this transformation and has given 
Charles Hewlett a competent team who are heading in the same direction and 
able to take some of his load which remains heavy. 

In my short time in the National Centre I have been surprised at the breadth of 
work done and the competent way it is handled. The staff team here is great 
and totally committed in their service to each local church. 

I had a call from a church asking what they got for their contribution to the Union 
and I sent back a list of 18 points, which probably isn’t complete. Ask me for it. 

God bless,  

Peter
Peter Browning, Interim Operations & Finance Director

OPERATIONS & 
FINANCE DIRECTOR  
REPORT
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BAPTIST UNION FINANCES
The budget was set to be a breakeven but the actual operating result was a surplus of $17,235. This is wonderful 
news and, in part, due to church giving and donations being $15,000 higher than budgeted. Thank you for your 
continued generous support. 

Interest received was $7k less than budgeted. Overall income was up by $28,000 and expenses also up by $13,000 
on the budgeted figures. 

There were two areas of unbudgeted costs. First, costs of $15,000 relating to our Baptist response to the Royal 
Commission of Inquiry into Abuse in Care. This required taking on additional contract staffing to handle the huge 
amount of work involving every church, association and associated Baptist entities, in a limited time. Thank you 
for responding to the request for information so promptly. Secondly, costs to make the Hillside Church property 
compliant and tenantable. These will be significant again this coming year. Much of the cost to date is reflected in the 
balance sheet as it is contributing to the value of the property asset. The Northern Baptist Association has generously 
agreed to contribute 50% of these costs. 

The following departments had been budgeted for but were disestablished: The Baptist magazine, Children & Family 
Ministries, Multicultural Inclusion Ministries, Māori Ministries and Youth. Costs continued with Te Kapa Rautaki, the 
group of Māori leaders who have been tirelessly holding Hui around the country looking at the health of our work with 
Māori and our partnership model. 

New departments, Leadership Development and Communications were created. There are exciting plans for a much 
improved communication system but little cost is reflected in this year’s results. 

So this has been a year of transition as the role of the National Centre changes and the role of Region Leaders and 
Associations has grown. 

The pie charts to the right show 
the breakdown of major items of 
income and expenditure.

Church Giving & 
Donations

61%Interest & 
Commission 
Income
8%

Other Income
4%

Legacies & Grants
21%

Dividends
6%

Baptist Union Income

National 
Leadership

26%

National Centre
47%

Carey College ‐
Grant
15%

National 
Ministries

12%

Baptist Union Expense
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Donations, Legacies & 
Other,  328,516 , 17%

Freeset Subsidy, 
112,418 , 6%

Interest,  68,422 , 4%

Team Support, 
802,913 , 42%

Prayer and self denial, 
590,879 , 31%

Income 2021

Donations, Legacies & Other Freeset Subsidy Interest Team Support Prayer and self denial

Overseas work, 
986,137 , 63%

NZ Office & Church 
Resourcing,  576,503 , 

37%

Expenses 2021

Overseas work NZ Office & Church Resourcing

NZBMS FINANCES
Jesus taught us to pray, “your kingdom come, your will be done, on earth as it is in heaven.” This year, praying and 
working for Jesus’ gospel and the coming of his Kingdom has been tough at every level. Lockdowns, the epidemic 
surging abroad in Asia and here in Aotearoa, disruptions in flights and MIQ. Yet, God continues to be at work and 
continues to show us glimpses of the Kingdom. Our positive financial position this year has enabled us to give more 
to our overseas projects than budgeted for, to meet our second year of promised subsidy to Freeset staff, to continue 
the work connecting and encouraging churches here in New Zealand, to develop the NZ backroom team, and to 
prayerfully plan for the future.

Prayer and Self Denial giving increased this year after many donations from churches arriving after August 31 2020 
(an estimated $144,000 coming in later than usual due to lockdown delays), as well as a general increase in Prayer 
and Self Denial giving for the year (an estimated $47,000 increase). Overall, Prayer and Self Denial giving was 
$190,000 above budget.

Expenses were significantly down with overseas worker expenses $100,000 under budget. New Zealand team 
expenses were also down by $107,000 under budget. Overseas workers expenses were significantly reduced due to 
a number of global workers having returned to New Zealand over the year, with nearly all having now returned to their 
global locations.

Taken together, the increased giving and reduction of expenses combined to produce an overall surplus of $307,000. 
This surplus is substantial, especially considering increased global project expenditure, beyond budget, which was 
able to be approved by Mission Council during the year to meet significant global project needs.

This year’s surplus of $307,000 has enabled Mission Council to recommend a deficit budget for the 2021-2022 
of $136,000. This extra expenditure in the year ahead will enable the establishment of a new strategic direction. 
We have, in effect, saved on cost this year to enable spending next year—in line with the new vision and direction 
approved by Mission Council. The aim of this new direction is to ensure mutual gospel renewal for our global 
partners and their communities which encourages, teaches and enables gospel renewal in our New Zealand 
church communities. 

Thank you to all of our 
churches. We are your 
global mission agency. 

Thank you to all who 
have engaged with 
Prayer and Self Denial, 
our global workers, our 
global projects, and the 
Freeset wage subsidy. 

Thank you for praying 
that the Kingdom of 
Jesus would be seen 
in communities of the 
poor, marginalised and 
amongst those who 
don’t know Jesus—yet!
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It is my privilege to be serving our collective of faith communities in the area of 
communication. I started mid-June in this new role at the National Centre. In 

the last census 39,030 people ticked the ‘Baptist’ box. That’s a significant ‘tribe’ 
in the Aotearoa Christian landscape. There are many layers of connection, and 
possible connection, within our team of 40k—and this involves both internal and 
external communication. I look forward to the challenges this new role brings. 

In late 2020 the decision was made to switch the Baptist from a bi-monthly 
print magazine to more digital communications. The Baptist has been a valuable 
means of creating a sense of connection between our faith communities. It has 
also been recognised as a quality publication earning a string of Australasian 
Religious Press Association awards for design and writing, including this 
year with: 

• GOLD Best design magazine: Rebecca McLeay 
• GOLD Best faith reflection: Greg Liston 
• GOLD Best theological article: Greg Liston 
• SILVER Best social justice article: Jennie Ekigbo 
• HIGHLY COMMENDED Best editorial/opinion piece: Christa McKirland 

It was estimated that the print version of the Baptist reached 4,000 people. 
It was clear that we needed to be reaching more people in our faith communities 
with the news, information and stories that will inform, encourage and inspire 
us in our mission. Communication trends are changing, so are the financial 
methods of sustaining communication. 

Linda Grigg, the last editor of the Baptist, was farewelled after the last print 
publication in February this year. Thank you Linda, for your hard work in creating 
so many editions of the Baptist over your three and a half years, and for 
managing the end of this chapter so well. 

I have begun an audit and map of ideas for a communication mechanism 
that responds to the needs identified above within the resources we have 
available. This coming summer will see the beginnings of this, continuing on 
the 140 year-long journey of New Zealand Baptist comms.  

Mike
Mike Crudge, Communications Director

COMMUNICATIONS 
DIRECTOR  
REPORT
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Kia ora whānau. This last year has been a challenge as I have grappled with 
putting down my previous role (Baptist Children & Family Ministries Team 

Leader) and picking up a new role—a role that is not only new to me, but new 
fullstop! However, in all of this God (and Charles) has been gracious as he 
has helped me navigate new leadership spaces, a new team, and even, more 
recently, a new office (which was harder than it sounds!).  

I’m often asked what it is that I do in this new role, to which I cheekily answer, 
“I look after cradle to grave leadership.” Put in more serious words, I work 
with Charles, alongside the Regional Leaders, to “ensure excellence in the 
preparing, selecting, caring, developing, reviewing, and concluding of pastors 
within our churches and faith communities.” Yes, the job really does cover all 
the leadership phases! It has taken the best part of a year, but I do finally feel 
that I have a better understanding of what those leadership phases look like and 
need, and I feel privileged to continue to be involved in the work of the Baptist 
Churches of New Zealand. 

Over the course of the last year I have been involved in the following (and 
other) mahi: 

• Coordinated the review of our Baptist Leaders’ Registration system 
(look out for the review panel’s recommendations in early 2022).

• Met weekly with the Regional Leaders and the National Centre Lead Team 
to better learn and understand the needs of our churches and pastors. 

• Rewritten and republished the Pastoral Search Handbooks for church 
search teams.

• And the Ethical Principles and Guidelines for Pastors. 
• Worked with Glenn Melville at the Carey Centre for Lifelong Learning to help 

develop the curriculum for 2022. 
• Attended all four of the Regional Hui—I thoroughly loved these! 
• Worked with the Pastoral Ministry Training team at Carey to select and 

journey alongside leaders training for pastoral ministry. This also involves the 
commendation and appointment processes.  

• Had oversight of the transitions process for our pastors, including follow-up 
that might be needed. 

• Worked alongside the Regional Leaders as they help churches manage 
pastoral vacancies.  

• Plus, plus, plus! 

I have attended Baptist churches all my life, and I firmly believe that God has 
his hand on our collective of churches and, in the words of a favourite song, 
“greater things have yet to come ... because there is no one like our God.”  

Karen
Karen Warner, Leadership Co-ordination Director 

LEADERSHIP 
CO-ORDINATION 
DIRECTOR   
REPORT
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If you have been following recent New Zealand media coverage on the Royal 
Commission of Inquiry into Abuse in Care or have seen the various international 

media reports on the perils of conflict and power in church settings, you will 
know the vital importance of ensuring the Baptist Churches of New Zealand 
respond well to complaints, disclosures or allegations of misconduct. For the 
sake of those treated poorly in the past, and for the protection of those under 
our care now and in the future, we must ensure that we address this well.  

This year has seen a review into the way we handle complaints. I would like 
to say a huge thank you to Ruby Duncan for leading this review, and for her 
support team, Jenny Manson, Andrew Connolly, Alastair Hall and Mike Norman. 
Thank you for the valuable work you have done in this space. I would also 
like to say a massive thank you to our SMRT (Sexual Misconduct Response 
Team), Brigitte Crowe, Helen Brereton, John Douglas and Daphne Marsden, 
for voluntarily serving our movement over many years in responding to sexual 
misconduct. Your experience has enabled you to see where our gaps are and 
give insight into the future. As we move towards a new structure, we must 
first thank the ‘shoulders on which we stand’, for your incredibly hard work in 
this space.  

In strengthening the way we respond to complaints across every level—locally, 
regionally and nationally, we look forward to bringing our churches a robust 
complaints process that serves the local church to handle complaints well. 
To provide policy that is workable and communicable, where roles and 
expectations of the local church, regional Associations and National Centre 
are clarified. To have clear guiding principles, definitions and informative tools. 
Where support is available both regionally, through our Regional Leaders, and 
nationally, through the use of a points person (the People & Culture Manager), 
who will act as a key liaison with various avenues of expertise, whether that be 
pastoral, therapeutic, legal or cultural. We look forward to rolling this out in the 
year that is ahead, pulling together robust policy and resources, sharing this with 
you and garnering your feedback along the way. Our goal is to serve our local 
churches in this space so that together, the Baptist Churches of New Zealand 
can ensure that our people and our places are safe.   

Kathryn
Kathryn Heslop, People & Culture Manager

PEOPLE & CULTURE 
MANAGER  
REPORT
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Tena koutou katoa ngā hāhi Iriiri o Aotearoa. In another year or COVID-19 
upheavals, the ten members of Te Kapa Rautaki (TKR) stepped up to lead in 

the considerable gap left by the redundancy and departure of the Kaihautu and 
Administrator. The kapa has been highly active, meeting monthly and responding 
to numerous requests for assistance from the Baptist Union, our churches and 
communities. We have been providing tikanga guidance, reviewing strategic 
plans, contributing to national Baptist reviews, Baptist event planning and so 
much more. In addition to spending many hundreds of hours shepherding our 
movement, TKR have focussed on the following:  

1. TKR conducted 13 Hui Whakarongo around the country in the first half of 2021. We took a strengths based, 
appreciative inquiry approach to these hui, wanting to let people know that there is still leadership that cared 
about them and hearing their stories of what is happening in their churches, communities and regions. The 
findings have been collated and anyalsed and will be disseminated in various ways at the end of 2021/beginning 
of 2022.  

2. MIM strategic direction. We have begun the process of discerning God’s will for Māori ministry moving 
forward, and are using findings from the Hui Whakarongo to guide our strategic direction. Unfortunately, our 
strategic planning weekend was cancelled this year due to COVID-19 lockdown but a new strategic plan is 
expected to be completed in early 2022. 

3. Co-designing a collaborative partnership model for BU governance. TKR have started discussions with 
the National Leader and Assembly Council on partnership governance. In the meantime, TKR representatives 
have been granted temporary seats at Assembly Council.   

4. TKR has been looking at how TKR supports our Baptist whānau (operations), and investigating how TKR 
operates, including how TKR can ensure representative of Māori in our movement, meeting our operational and 
governance responsibilities.  

Overall this has been a very busy and intense year for Te Kapa Rautaki.  

Two of our number decided to step down to focus on other areas. Doug and Luke have been outstanding and we 
acknowledge them and all the work they have done for the Baptist movement over many years, and especially these 
years as part of TKR.  

The members of TKR for 2020 and 2021 were Steve Mihaere (Chair), Leonnie Motu, Ray Totorewa, Josie Te Kahu, 
Sean Delany, Mike Norman, Sandy Kerr, Matt Renata, Doug McNeill and Luke Kaa-Morgan.  

Josie
Josie Te Kahu, on behalf of Te Kapa Rautaki

MANATŪ  
IRIIRI MĀORI— 
TE KAPA RAUTAKI 
REPORT
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Across the last 12 months, the structure and focus of Multicultural Inclusion 
Ministries has mostly shifted from a national one toward the regions, in line 

with the Baptist Union plan. What remains is an Advisory Team made up of 
representatives of each of our larger ethnic groups: Samoan, Chinese, Korean, 
Indian, Filipino, Burmese (Myanmar). (We also have Russian and Ethiopian 
churches). This team meets by Zoom monthly, with one month looking at 
supporting each other and the concerns around the regions, and the next 
month meeting with Charles to discuss issues concerning the place of our 
migrant leaders and communities.  

Migrant peoples are deeply affected by COVID-19, including separation from 
overseas loved-ones, loss of incomes, lack of new migrants, and not being able 
to meet as extended family. 

Summary of key issues the MIM team have discussed: 

• The stepping up of migrants into BU and regional leadership positions. We 
rejoice in the appointment of Ravi Musuku as incoming President of the BU. 

• The tragic state of Myanmar and the persecution of Christians there. Please 
pray for our brothers and sisters here in NZ.

• Resourcing of Kiwi churches to explore what it means to be multicultural, 
e.g. Gleniti Baptist Church adopted the Multicultural Response Ministry 
as one of their ministries and appointed Jonan Castillon as coordinator, 
supported by Hopevale Trust. 

• The need to find ‘champions’ in the regions who can progress the 
multicultural journey of our Kiwi churches. Discussions are underway in 
some regions about adding volunteers or staff. 

• The majority of our migrant pastors are bi-vocational. We need to find 
financial support to increase their ministry hours. 

• Supporting the training and ministry placement of 2nd gen migrant leaders. 

• Sustainable models of church planting. 

• Flexibility of registration requirements. 

• Recognition of migrant pastors as suitable for multicultural churches. 

• The production of suitable resources, e.g. the Ministry Appreciation and 
Participation Toolkit. 

The multicultural ‘fabric’ of who we now are as a Baptist family of churches 
requires an on-going journey of discovery. We cannot simply add the new 
strands to the old garment, we must weave a new one.  

Lindsay
Lindsay Jones, Northern Association Multicultural Ministries Coach (on behalf of 
the MIM Advisory Team) 

MULTICULTURAL  
MINISTRIES 
ADVISORY TEAM 
REPORT

ANNUAL REPORT 2021  |  16



NORTHERN

Ehara tāku toa i te toa takitahi, engari he toa takitini.  
My strength is not as an individual, but as a collective.

It was wonderful for Rick Pierce (Network Pastor, Health & Development), and I to be 
welcomed by the 100 churches of Northern Baptist Association from Doubtless Bay in the 

north to Waiuku in the south; at our Local Gathering in November 2020. 

Over the year we have also welcomed: Odele & Myk Habets (Albany); Brian & Jo Lima 
(Milford); Rewai & Josie Te Kahu (Kaikohe); Teina Mita (Māori development leader, 
Iosis); John & Jasmin DiCicco (Snell’s Beach); Andrew & Andrea Page (Belmont); Matt & Roxy Gordon (Associate, 
Long Bay); Tim & Alyssa Hart (Māngere Bridge); and Steven & Sue Major (Doubtless Bay). We accepted as 
Fellowships: Antioch Korean Church (Mt Wellington) lead by David Na; and Ekklesia Samoan Baptist Church 
Manurewa led by Faleniu & Faith Alesana. We also celebrated the return of Liberty (led by Trent & Sue Hodson) to 
Ōwairaka with the opening of their new building. 

We extend our thanks to all those who have faithfully stood at their posts over this year, we acknowledge you in 
a second year marked by COVID-19—when many of us had not yet recovered from a wearying 2020. We recognise 
and rejoice in your love for Jesus and His people throughout this challenging year. 

We give thanks for those who have bade us, or will be bidding us, farewell: Robyn Mellar-Simth (Eastview); Rawiri 
Auty (Henderson to VisionWest); Kien Choo (Auckland Chinese to Australia); Neil Hamilton (Beachlands); and Brian 
Krum (Whangārei to Hamilton Central). We are also saddened and burdened by the closure of Hillside Baptist Church 
earlier in the year. 

We also want to give special thanks to those who will be concluding their term on the Board or retiring for their roles 
this year. Peter Browning who has served faithfully and remarkably as our chair for the last 11 years along with Darcy 
Haliday and Neil Hamilton. Our thanks also to Alan Ameye (Youth) and Melissa Wilson (Young Adults) who concluded 
during the year, as well as Wayne Boyd who will retire in December. We wish them all our very best and ask God’s 
grace on us as we seek those to join our Board at the coming AGM as well as the staff team for the coming season. 

Our focus has been on seeking alignment with national initiatives and priorities and improving associating between 
the regions through the Regional Leader group as well as enhancing associating among the faith communities of 
Northern. We have been asking for, seeking and affirming our collective unity and maturity. We have been particularly 
pleased at strengthened connections with our Northland churches and were blessed to appoint Josie Te Kahu as 
Northland Area Leader in March. We have also worked to consolidate relationships with Baptist Orbit entities and 
Baptist social service agencies in our region.  

Our specialist team have provided support in areas of ministry including Finance and Administration, Young Adult, 
Youth, Children and Family, Multicultural Inclusion, Intergenerational models, Pastoral placement, Fellowship and 
Church Application as well as developing new resources for churches. We acknowledge Raewyn Moodie for also 
serving as President, Josie Te Kahu for her role in Te Kapa Rautaki and Lindsay Jones for serving as Interim Pastor 
Māngere Bridge during this year alongside their NBA roles. 

We celebrate the wonderful events held in or involving people from our region—the Local Gathering, our Young 
Adults Camp, Northern Easter Camp, eCamp, the QB Leadership camp and the Regional Hui (hosted alongside 
Peter Foster with BOPE and Waikato)—thank you to all involved!  

We continue to see the fruit of our $500,000 invested with the National Leader in securing his leadership team 
nationally. We are grateful to be partners in ministry across the motu and want to continue to encourage bold and 
courageous thinking and doing in our rohe as we enter into the next season of gospel renewal in the places we 
are planted. 

Ngā manaakitanga,  

Reti
Reti Ah-Voa, Northern Baptist Association

REGIONAL  
LEADER  
REPORTS
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WAIKATO AND BAY OF 
PLENTY & EASTLAND

Waikato and Bay of 
Plenty & Eastland 

Baptist Associations 
made a big decision of 
sharing a full-time Regional 
Leader. The process to 
find someone started in 
November 2020. I was appointed to the role and 
started in May 2021. So, this report only reflects my 
first six months.

I want to thank the past Regional Leaders, Mike 
Walker and Neil Perry, for their work across the two 
Associations over the past years. I look forward to 
building on the platforms that they have established.

I clock up the km’s a lot. I cover from Taumarunui/
Taupō up to Whitianga, across to Gisborne and 
everything in between. 

I enjoyed travelling the region and touching base with 
our churches, pastors and leadership teams.

As per every church, we faced another lockdown for 
a time. All of the two regions churches responded well 
to this. Online services, pre-recorded services, Zoom 
services were all started. Churches improvised well 
and made a good go of it.

Our monthly cluster meetings with pastors have been 
well attended. Our aim with the clusters is to develop 
and grow a sense of alignment and a collaborative 
approach amongst us as we endeavour to see gospel 
renewal happen in our various communities. 

A highlight was our Regional Hui. It was good to get 
the regions churches together. We had fantastic input 
from Alistair Hall, Craig Vernall, and Ian Foster. Really 
good stuff that we are building on when we meet 
monthly. I want to thank all those who were involved 
and helped make the Regional Hui happen.  

We welcome Steve Murray as new pastor of 
Welcome Bay Baptist. We welcome Werner Schreiber 
as new pastor at Cambridge Baptist. We welcome 
Brian Krum as new pastor at Hamilton Central Baptist. 
We welcome Patrick Rounds as pastor of 
Katikati Baptist. 

I have enjoyed working with the other Regional 
Leaders and look forward to seeing our churches 
continue to have momentum into the future.  

The first five months have been one of settling in and 
finding my new normal. I have enjoyed the challenge 
and look forward to the future.  

Blessings, 

Peter
Peter Foster, Waikato, Bay of Plenty & Eastland  
Baptist Associations

CENTRAL DISTRICTS

In this, our first annual 
report, at least from Ruby 

and I in the Central Districts, 
let me make some brief 
comments on our role and 
how it’s been. But first, we 
are indebted to the Northern 
Baptist Association for 
making this role possible in the Central Districts, and 
we also appreciate working with Mike Warring to 
cover the lower North Island. 

At a regional level we have assisted several churches 
that have been through difficult times. The good news 
is that we are seeing progress. Some may see this 
‘fire-fighting’ stuff negatively, thinking that it consumes 
most of our time. We see it differently. To mend, heal 
and restore is a positive and makes for health on so 
many levels.  

In essence Ruby and I are committed to doing these 
conflict and leadership issues in such a way where 
we do not take sides but rather seek to be there for 
both sides. As you will appreciate, this is not always 
easy. And even in those instances where there is 
a clear victim and perpetrator, one can still be there 
for both, without minimising the behaviour of those in 
the wrong.  

With our Regional Leader hats on, Ruby and I have 
also sought to advance various things at Baptist 
national level. For Ruby this has meant extensive work 
in and around heading up a review on how the Baptist 
Union can process allegations of sexual misconduct 
issues that come to the attention of the BU.  

Possibly we need to make clear Ruby’s role as a 
Regional Leader. In a sense, I (Mick) am the point 
person as the RL in the Central Districts working with 
Mike Warring. Ruby’s participation is on a ‘as if and 
when needed’ basis.  

In terms of our two days a week, it would be fair to 
say that some weeks has us doing more than that, 
and other weeks, less so. To have this chapter of 
serving local churches and the BU, in these senior 
years of our lives, is a real privilege.   

Mick & Ruby
Mick & Ruby Duncan, Central Districts
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WELLINGTON

It has been a great year 
in the Wellington region, 

but one where I have still 
been finding my way as 
Regional Leader (RL). It has 
been great getting to know 
the churches and leaders 
of the Wellington Baptist 
Association. 

Numerous people told me how diverse this region was 
as I started in the RL role, and I have discovered that it 
certainly is. However it seems we have found common 
ground with a focus and desire to see gospel renewal 
taking place in local churches and neighbourhoods.  

2021 started with the induction of four new pastors 
to our region: Elliot & Sarah Rice Co-Pastors at 
Wellington Central, Michael Krausse at Epuni and 
finally Vince Kilpatrick at Ōtaki. It has been great to 
have their input, each of them bring their own unique 
gifting and talents along with a fresh perspective and 
enthusiasm to see gospel renewal happening. I love 
this! I am so thankful for their arrival. 

It was great being able to run Central Easter Camp 
again, I went for the whole weekend. Johanna 
Vannathy and her team did an amazing job running 
our largest camp ever. It is always a joy to see young 
people worshipping together, sensing the work of the 
Holy Spirit and responding to the gospel. This year 
was also a significant milestone in running our first 
Regional Hui combined with Central Districts. Held at 
El Rancho with over 90 in attendance. It was so good 
to gather for three days getting to know one another 
a little better, and realising the potential of working 
together for the Kingdom. Plus we heard some 
fantastic stories of gospel renewal from many of the 
churches who attended. Finally thanks to all who have 
ministered in our region in the last year, so that the 
Kingdom can expand.

Ngā mihi, 

Mike
Mike Warring, Wellington Baptist Association

TOP OF THE SOUTH

A few years ago 
a renowned Christian 

psychiatrist who was part 
of our church said to me 
“I love retirement. I’ve done 
it three times already!” 
I know the feeling. Having 
left full-time pastoral ministry 
at 65 years of age, I was invited to become Regional 
Leader for the Bay of Plenty & Eastland Baptist 
Association. Having stepped down from that role, after 
a short break, I’ve been asked to take up a temporary 
role as Interim Regional Leader for Baptist churches in 
the Top of the South. A bit complicated when I live in 
Tauranga and the COVID-19 pandemic restricts travel.

The Top of the South region is the smallest in the 
country. Seven quite diverse Baptist churches, two 
ethnic congregations and a Baptist military chaplain 
working at Woodburn Airforce base at Blenheim. The 
churches in this region have always struggled with 
a sense of isolation. They don’t feel connected with 
Wellington, and Canterbury Westland seems a long 
way away. Despite the sense of isolation, there are 
healthy churches, capable pastors and significant 
ministries happening here.  

In my first few months in the role I’ve met with the 
pastors to explore ways in which they can co-operate 
together as churches to grow the Kingdom of God 
in the Top of the South. Together they have begun 
discussions on what a Top of the South Association 
might look like. I’ve encouraged the pastors to identify 
areas of significant ministry opportunities where 
they could combine their resources to grow the 
Kingdom. These initiatives have been met with warm 
acceptance. Perhaps by this time next year we will 
have a clearer picture of where God is leading us. 

David
David McChesney (Interim),  
Top of the South Baptist Association
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CANTERBURY 
WESTLAND

The Canterbury Westland 
region spans west 

to Greymouth, north to 
Oxford, south to Ōamaru 
with fifteen churches in 
Christchurch, and twelve in 
the wider region. 

Collaboration between our twenty seven churches 
continues to strengthen, as does our relationship 
with Top of the South and Otago & Southland 
Associations. Significant regional work has been done 
with social housing and sharing of leadership across 
churches. The Regional Hui was a highlight. 

In the face of COVID-19 our churches have adapted 
incredibly well with some churches continuing an 
online presence, some shifting to area congregations, 
and others to multiple services. Our churches have 
shouldered that load with perseverance and grace. 
I have strongly encouraged everyone not to defer 
annual leave or sabbatical time and to not work on 
their days off, as we have a responsibility to minister 
from a position of grace and peace and this can only 
be sustained long term from the spiritual discipline of 
resting in, and living out of, God’s presence. 

We welcomed in: Graham Purkis as Interim Senior 
Pastor and Rachel Sangster as Associate Pastor of 
Riccarton Baptist; James Fotheringham as Senior 
Pastor of Darfield Baptist; John McMullan as Interim 
Senior Pastor of Ashburton Baptist; Vivian Fyfe 
as Associate Pastor at Avonhead Baptist; Doug 
McConnell as Mission Leader of Breezes Rd Baptist; 
Eduardo Mendoca as Pastor of New Generation 
Church (Bryndwyr Baptist); Adam & Colleen 
Hutchinson as co-pastors at Papanui Baptist; Samuel 
Pascual at Temuka Baptist; and Andrew Thornburrow 
as Associate Pastor at Rangiora Baptist. 

Alan Jamieson concluded as Senior Pastor of South 
West Baptist; Mary Allan at Delta Community Baptist 
(and the church closed); Sarah & Elliot Rice at 
Papanui Baptist; Doug McConnell at Linwood Baptist; 
Neil Johnston at Ōamaru Baptist; Ian Goodman 
at Wilson St Timaru; and John & Sandra Alpe at 
St Albans Baptist.  

I have been greatly blessed working alongside 
Mike Dodge and Rachel Sangster on my staff team 
and Deb Riach, Brad Nicolson, Jan De Lange, and 
David Baines on the CWBA Board. The weekly Zoom 
meetings with Charles, RLs and the Lead Team have 
created great cohesion. I’m grateful too for Archer 
and Glenroy Trusts for their ongoing partnership and 
intentional resourcing of our region.  

Kim
Kim Peters, Canterbury Westland Baptist Association

OTAGO & SOUTHLAND

At writing, I’ve been 
in this role for 

just on a year and it’s 
undoubtedly been one of 
both encouragement and 
challenge. I’m grateful for 
the weekly meetings with 
other regional and national 
leaders. Huge thanks to Derrick Hills and Derek Pyle 
who helped in my transition to the role along with 
the support of Northern Association and those in the 
national team. 

The Regional Hui was a significant time of connection, 
storytelling, worship, prayer and discussion and it 
was encouraging to see the desire for future regular 
Hui. As a result, the willingness to further collaborate, 
serve, share resource, and learn from each other has 
strengthened.  

Baptisms around the region have been a regular 
feature, and Easter Camps were highly encouraging 
for several churches as youth came to know Jesus in 
a personal way.   

North East Valley Baptist members made the decision 
mid-year to close the church; a difficult one after 
100+ years of ministry in the area. The former Mosgiel 
Baptist building was also sold. 

We have been fortunate in the south that time spent 
with COVID-19 level restrictions have been limited 
comparatively. I applaud the way in which churches 
have rolled with the uncertainties. The people of 
God have continued to be the Church, caring for 
each other and those in the communities around 
them. Whether in-person and/or online for services 
or activities, people have responded well and within 
their capacity, but there is no doubt that the constant 
adjustment to changes or being ready to move at 
a moment’s notice is a burden.    

We are midst a process of ‘review, recalibrate and 
a new roadmap’ for the Association as we seek to 
see the Kingdom of God grow in the south. We look 
forward to what God has in store.  

Rachel
Rachel Murray, Otago & Southland Baptist Association
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At our wedding the first dance to get everyone into the groove was Cool and 
the Gang’s ‘Celebrate Good Times—C’mon!’ It’s been a song that can 

always get me dancing and I’d really like you to celebrate with me some of the 
remarkable milestones that have been initiated from the Baptist Women’s Board, 
the Union and Carey leadership to help Baptist women flourish in their calling. 

1. We now have three women regional leaders. 
2. We have stunning women lecturers at Carey. 
3. There are 20 women studying at Carey on the Youth and Pastoral Leadership 

training programmes who are due to graduate in the next three years. 
4. The Baptist Admin Manual has new parental leave policies in place 

especially tailored for called Baptist women pastors.  
5. The Women’s Board has a new mentoring system, Tuakana—Taina (Big sister/Little sister) to develop women 

leaders in the local church (email women@baptist.org.nz for more information). 
6. There is an annual Women’s Sunday devoted to promoting and celebrating Baptist women at the end of 

Women of History Month (find service outlines on our website bwnz.org.nz).
7. We have a new Women’s Leadership cluster model (initiated by Monique Lee) to support women leaders on 

our resource page  
bwnz.org.nz/resources. 

8. Our annual prayer week for women was really well supported. Many thanks to Beulah Wood.   
9. We are running our first bi-annual Mini Women’s Summit for Baptist women leaders with amazing Baptist 

women speaking in three 10-minuite talks.  
10. We have three impressive women being nominated for the Women’s Board this year who will bring incredible 

ideas to help us serve Baptist Women of New Zealand. 

But I’d also like to hold up a mirror to some of the not so 
great things that are happening and ask the question why? 
Here is a table that looks at Baptists data on the number 
of women pastors over the last few years.  

In the last four years the number of women pastors 
have increased by 0.5% every year. At this rate it will be 
44 years before there is an equal number of male and 
female pastors. 

At this rate it will be 40 years before there is an equal 
number of male to female senior, sole and co-lead pastors. 

And though we celebrate the number of women training at 
Carey, in the last five years only two women are currently 
sole pastors and one is a co-lead pastor. There were 
19 men who graduated at the same time who are now 
lead pastors. Why is that? Why do women not even get 
on the calling lists? Why are churches so uncomfortable 
having a woman lead pastor?  

My real and prayerful hope is that as churches see 
amazing women using their God-given gifting for Kingdom 
good and as people honestly look at Scripture and unpacks it, all genders will be able to use their gifts, not based on 
their gender, but on their calling. I look forward with strong expectation to that future and if you would like to discuss 
resources to help understand theology or to develop women in your church we at Baptist Women New Zealand 
would be so happy to help you. 

Heather
Heather Ameye-Bevers, Chair,  
Baptist Women New Zealand

BAPTIST  
WOMEN NZ  
REPORT

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Gender by year 2016 to 2020

female male unknown

21.43

77.83

0.74

2016 pastors % by gender

Female Male Unknown

24.17

74.79

1.04

2017 pastors % by gender

1 2 3

0

50

100

150

200

250

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Senior or Sole or Co Pastors by gender

female male unknown

ANNUAL REPORT 2021  |  21

mailto:women%40baptist.org.nz?subject=
https://www.bwnz.org.nz
https://www.bwnz.org.nz/resources/


There has never been a dull moment during my time with Christian Savings. 
Since 2017 we have been busy with changing our legal structure, bringing 

on new shareholders, expanding our reach and growing our team. The last 12 
months have been no different. The various COVID-19 lockdowns have tested 
the character of our churches and charities as they grapple with these times of 
unprecedented change. I’m proud to say that they have responded with a strong 
display of commitment, agility and strategic thinking. I’m also pleased to see that 
thousands of people and organisations around New Zealand continue to invest 
with Christian Savings as we seek to expand the Kingdom of God, in our country. 

Over the last 12 months our team has seen a growth in lending by $19m to 
$184m (11.4%), and deposits by $16m to $207m (8.4%). Our equity has also 
increased by $3m to $31m (10.9%) and our overall financial performance was 
above budget. I’d like to personally thank our faithful borrowers and depositors for 
their continued partnership with Christian Savings.  

Sadly 2021 has also witnessed the farewell of James Palmer, who served as Chief 
Executive of Christian Savings for seven years. James was instrumental in shaping 
Christian Savings into what it is today. Without his dynamic leadership there would 
be many churches and charities around our country who simply would not have 
obtained the finance they needed to fulfil their mission. James has moved on to 
lead two exciting finance ventures in the community housing sector—we wish him 
the best and know that we have not seen the last of him. 

The next 12 months are exciting for us as we look to bring onboard new team 
members and support the many Baptist projects around the country.  

God Bless.   

Dan
Dan Mazengarb, Chief Executive

CHRISTIAN 
SAVINGS 
REPORT
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Baptist Research has had another exceptionally quiet year, due primarily 
to COVID-19. 

The Pacific Journal of Theological Research has continued to publish. 
November will see the end of Dr Myk Habet’s service as editor of the 
journal. We would like to register our deep gratitude to Myk for his excellent 
leadership of the journal over the past eight years, which revitalised the 
journal and extended its reach nationally and internationally. We now 
welcome Dr Christa McKirland who joins Dr Andrew Picard as co-editor.  

Jody & Andrew
Jody Kilpatrick and Andrew Picard, Co-Presidents

NZ BAPTIST 
RESEARCH 
REPORT
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Baptist Union of New Zealand
Te Hahi Iriiri o Aotearoa
Statement of Financial Performance
For the years ending

2022 2021 2021
Budget Actual Budget

INCOME
Church Giving & Donations 912,000 846,630 831,649
Interest & Commission Income 75,528 112,771 120,000
Legacies & Grants 290,000 290,000 290,000
Dividends 235,700 80,807 80,000
Other Income 28,000 57,224 37,305
TOTAL INCOME 1,541,228 1,387,432 1,358,954

EXPENDITURE
National Leadership
National Leader 210,618 184,273 192,718
Church/Regional Support 220,480 148,953 162,547
Governance 24,198 22,141 26,000

455,296 355,367 381,265
 National Centre
Administration costs 47,995 69,448 59,482
Baptist Magazine 0 28,463 -12,247
Communications 180,622 61,312 81,779
Finance/Accounting 98,656 95,690 89,185
HR & Legal 54,685 2,225 43,301
Information Technology 71,787 77,689 57,898
Leadership & Development 82,914 75,182 70,132
Property 44,804 30,714 30,225
Resource Management 156,977 176,203 151,327

738,440 616,926 571,082
Training Ministries
Carey College - Grant 200,000 200,000 200,000

National Ministries
Children's Ministries 0 7,588 16,180
Community Ministries 15,408 33,719 8,111
Ethnic Ministries 0 15,114 18,555
Kapa Rautaki 120,000 94,901 95,514
Youth Ministry 0 19,447 38,400

135,408 170,769 176,760

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 1,529,144 1,343,062 1,329,107

Depreciation Expense 27,343 27,136 29,575

OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (15,259) 17,234 272

Less Non operating items
Hillside 0 (8,194) 0
RCI 0 (15,055) 0

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (15,259) (6,015) 272
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Te Hahi Iriiri o Aotearoa

Legal Name of Entity: The Baptist Union of New Zealand

Other Name of Entity (if any): Baptist Union

Type of Entity and Legal Basis (if any): Incorporated Society

Registration Number: CC 22731
Registration Date: 9th April 2008

Entity Structure: 

Contact details

  Physical Address: 473 Great South Rd, Penrose, Auckland  1061
  Postal Address: P O Box 12-149, Penrose, Auckland 1642
  Phone 09 526 0333  
  Email / Website Email : info@baptist.org.nz

www.baptist.org.nz

Governance Members Raewyn Moodie (President)
Ravi Musuku (Vice-President)
Christopher Chamberlain (Chair)
Charles Hewlett (National Leader)
Devasundara Das Premadas
Angela Pedersen
Blue Bradley
John Alpe
Helen Brereton
David Allen (NZBMS)

The Union is primarily a Union of Baptist Churches within New Zealand having for its general objects the
extension of the Kingdom of God, the strengthening of all associated churches and the cultivation amongst its
constituent members of respect and love for one another and for all who love the Lord Jesus Christ. 

The Baptist Union of New Zealand is made up of an Assembly of representatives of the individual member
bodies. They in turn appoint an Assembly Council which is responsible for work primarily within New Zealand
and is directly accountable to the Assembly in all matters of national policy and staffing. The Assembly also
votes in officers of the Union comprising of President, Vice President, the National Leader and Principal of the
Theological College.

Entity's Purpose or Mission: 

Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated

Entity Information
For the year ended 31 August 2021

Page 2
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peter@charityaudit.nz   
www.charityaudit.nz 

P O Box 217-125, Botany Junction Auckland 2164

Opinion Governance Responsibility for the Financial
Statements

We have audited the financial statements of the NZ Baptist
Union, which comprises the statement of financial position as
at 31 August 2021 and the statements of comprehensive
revenue and expenses, and cash flows for the year ended, and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

The governance is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
Public Benefit Entity NZ IPSAS Standards with the Reduced
Disclosure Regime and for such internal control as the
governance determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the NZ Baptist
Union as at 31 August 2021 and its comprehensive revenue,
expenses and its cash flows for the year ended, in accordance
with Public Benefit Entity Standards Reduced Disclosure
Regime.

In preparing the financial statements, the governance is  
responsible for assessing the entity's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the governance either intends to liquidate
the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Basis for Opinion Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs (NZ)). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
below in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the NZ Baptist Union in accordance with
Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) Code of Ethics
for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
(NZ) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no other
relationship with, or interests in, the NZ Baptist Union.

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements is located at the XRB’s
website at http://www.xrb.govt.nz/standards-for-assurance-
practitioners/auditors-responsibilities/audit-report-8/

Restriction on Responsibility

This report is made solely to the Council, as a body, in
accordance with section 42F of the Charities Act 2005, and
their deed of incorporation. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Council those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Council as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or
for the opinions we have formed.

_____________________ 
Charity Integrity Audit Ltd
Director: Peter Conaglen
Chartered Accountants - South Auckland
2nd November 2021

peter@charityaudit.nz   
www.charityaudit.nz 

To the Assembly Council of the New Zealand (NZ) Baptist Union for the year ended 31 August 2021

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Notes 2021 2020

Non Exchange Revenue
Grants 552,047 158,282
Donations, fundraising and other similar revenue 2,409,312 1,330,283
Total Income received Non Exchange 2,961,359 1,488,565

Exchange Revenue
Revenue from providing goods or services 8,056,397 6,488,727
Interest, dividends and other investment revenue 889,504 1,004,690
Other revenue 666,428 529,079
Total Income received Exchange 9,612,329 8,022,496

Total Revenue 12,573,688 9,511,062

Expenses
Volunteer and employee related costs 4,243,191 2,242,757
Costs related to providing goods or service 6,221,453 6,695,005
Grants and donations made 1,430,946 415,818
Other Expenses 453,997 104,726
Total Expenses 12,349,588 9,458,307

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year 1.0 224,100 52,755

Other Comprehensive Revenue & Expenses

Other Movements 6,637,142 527,772
Gain on sale 1,758,771 699,554
Total Other Comprehensive Revenue & Expenses 1.13 8,395,913 1,227,326

Total Surplus of Comprehensive Revenue (Loss) 8,620,013 1,280,081

Revenue

Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated

Statement of Comprehensive Revenue & Expenditure
For the year ended 31 August 2021

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 4

Independent Auditor’s Report
Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated

Notes to the Performance Report
For the year ended 31 August 2021

19 Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd

20 Contingent Liabilities
Royal Commision of Inquiry

Baptist Union owns 100% of the shares in Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd, who is the trustee for the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme. The Baptist Union has control through sole ownership but does not directly benefit
financially but the pastors of the member churches receive the benefit. Therefore no consolidation of these
entities have been made in this Baptist Union Consolidated reporting. The Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd as
owner of the Baptist Union Superannuation Scheme is not a registered charity, but the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme is a registered charity CC27709.

A Royal Commission of Inquiry into Historical Abuse in State Care and in the Care of Faith-based Institutions was 
established by the Government on 12 November 2018. The work of the Inquiry commenced in 2019 and will 
continue for a number of years.

The Inquiry is empowered to look into abuse alleged to have happened in faith based settings over the 50 year
period from 1 January 1950 to the end of 1999. Although the Inquiry may make findings of fault, it has no power
to determine the civil, criminal, or disciplinary liability of any person.

Whilst Baptist Union currently has had no formal complaint made against it resulting from the publicity generated
by the Inquiry, it is possible complaints may emerge. Even if they did, there is uncertainty as to whether liability
will rest with the state or the care provider for any financial compensation.

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 16FINANCIAL REPORT 2021  |  29



Notes  Aug 2021  Aug 2020

Bank accounts and cash 6,418,968 2,024,673
Debtors and prepayments 628,663 935,409
Inventory 13,934 13,934
Other Current Assets 578,847 957,727

Total Current Assets 7,640,412 3,931,743

Property, Plant and Equipment 2 19,229,597 11,508,601
Investments 3 50,354,476 45,016,592

Total Non-Current Assets 69,584,073 56,525,193
Total Assets 77,224,485 60,456,936

Liabilities 3,385,029 2,445,865

Total Liabilities 3,385,029 2,445,865

Total Assets less Total Liabilities (Net Assets) 73,839,456 58,011,070

Opening General Accumulated surpluses or (deficits) 32,999,007 31,718,927
Comprehensive Revenue this year 8,620,013 1,280,081

41,619,020 32,999,007

Capital Reserves 15,111,668 11,858,762
Revenue Reserves 2,119,913 3,129,193
Untagged Revenue Reserves 274,092 274,089
Special Purpose Reserves 4,028,002 4,018,614
Total Reserves 21,533,675 19,280,658
Revaluation reserves 10,686,760 5,731,405

Total Reserves 32,220,435 25,012,063

Total Accumulated Funds 73,839,456 58,011,070

For and on behalf on the Council

………………………………………….. …………………………………………..
Chairperson National Leader

Dated    Dated     

Reserves

Current Assets

As at 31 August 2021

 

Liabilities

Reserves

Statement of Financial Position

Assets

Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated

Accumulated Funds

Non-Current Assets

Independent Auditor’s Report

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 5

Independent Auditor’s Report
Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated

Notes to the Performance Report
For the year ended 31 August 2021

19 Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd

20 Contingent Liabilities
Royal Commision of Inquiry

Baptist Union owns 100% of the shares in Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd, who is the trustee for the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme. The Baptist Union has control through sole ownership but does not directly benefit
financially but the pastors of the member churches receive the benefit. Therefore no consolidation of these
entities have been made in this Baptist Union Consolidated reporting. The Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd as
owner of the Baptist Union Superannuation Scheme is not a registered charity, but the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme is a registered charity CC27709.

A Royal Commission of Inquiry into Historical Abuse in State Care and in the Care of Faith-based Institutions was 
established by the Government on 12 November 2018. The work of the Inquiry commenced in 2019 and will 
continue for a number of years.

The Inquiry is empowered to look into abuse alleged to have happened in faith based settings over the 50 year
period from 1 January 1950 to the end of 1999. Although the Inquiry may make findings of fault, it has no power
to determine the civil, criminal, or disciplinary liability of any person.

Whilst Baptist Union currently has had no formal complaint made against it resulting from the publicity generated
by the Inquiry, it is possible complaints may emerge. Even if they did, there is uncertainty as to whether liability
will rest with the state or the care provider for any financial compensation.

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 16

Account  Aug 2021  Aug 2020

Donations, fundraising and other similar receipts 2,930,886 1,899,385
Receipts from providing goods or services 7,610,456 7,320,892
Interest, dividends and other investment receipts 1,095,799 893,309
Cash receipts from other operating activities 2,066,922 622,099
GST (51,835) (114,375)
Payments to suppliers and employees (11,122,199) (9,920,371)
Donations or grants paid (1,706,307) (425,818)
Cash flows from other operating activities 123,909 228,539

Total Cash Flows from Operating Activities 947,632 503,661

Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment 5,860,566 754,677
Cash receipts from sales of investments 1,762,914 1,281,251
Net Proceeds from loans borrowed less repaid (69,245) (357,920)
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment (528,740) (153,633)
Payments to purchase investments (4,065,477) (1,293,075)
Cash flows from other investing and financing activities 486,645 (266,770)

Total Cash Flows from Investing and Financing Activities 3,446,663 (35,470)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 4,394,295 468,191

Opening cash 2,024,673 1,556,482
Closing cash 6,418,968 2,024,673

Net change in cash for period 4,394,295 468,191

Statement of Cash Flows

Cash Flows from Investing and Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

For the year ended 31 August 2021

Bank Accounts and Cash

Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated
Independent Auditor’s Report

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 6
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Account  Aug 2021  Aug 2020

Donations, fundraising and other similar receipts 2,930,886 1,899,385
Receipts from providing goods or services 7,610,456 7,320,892
Interest, dividends and other investment receipts 1,095,799 893,309
Cash receipts from other operating activities 2,066,922 622,099
GST (51,835) (114,375)
Payments to suppliers and employees (11,122,199) (9,920,371)
Donations or grants paid (1,706,307) (425,818)
Cash flows from other operating activities 123,909 228,539

Total Cash Flows from Operating Activities 947,632 503,661

Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment 5,860,566 754,677
Cash receipts from sales of investments 1,762,914 1,281,251
Net Proceeds from loans borrowed less repaid (69,245) (357,920)
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment (528,740) (153,633)
Payments to purchase investments (4,065,477) (1,293,075)
Cash flows from other investing and financing activities 486,645 (266,770)

Total Cash Flows from Investing and Financing Activities 3,446,663 (35,470)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 4,394,295 468,191

Opening cash 2,024,673 1,556,482
Closing cash 6,418,968 2,024,673

Net change in cash for period 4,394,295 468,191

Statement of Cash Flows

Cash Flows from Investing and Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

For the year ended 31 August 2021

Bank Accounts and Cash

Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated
Independent Auditor’s Report

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 6

Independent Auditor’s Report
Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated

Notes to the Performance Report
For the year ended 31 August 2021

19 Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd

20 Contingent Liabilities
Royal Commision of Inquiry

Baptist Union owns 100% of the shares in Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd, who is the trustee for the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme. The Baptist Union has control through sole ownership but does not directly benefit
financially but the pastors of the member churches receive the benefit. Therefore no consolidation of these
entities have been made in this Baptist Union Consolidated reporting. The Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd as
owner of the Baptist Union Superannuation Scheme is not a registered charity, but the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme is a registered charity CC27709.

A Royal Commission of Inquiry into Historical Abuse in State Care and in the Care of Faith-based Institutions was 
established by the Government on 12 November 2018. The work of the Inquiry commenced in 2019 and will 
continue for a number of years.

The Inquiry is empowered to look into abuse alleged to have happened in faith based settings over the 50 year
period from 1 January 1950 to the end of 1999. Although the Inquiry may make findings of fault, it has no power
to determine the civil, criminal, or disciplinary liability of any person.

Whilst Baptist Union currently has had no formal complaint made against it resulting from the publicity generated
by the Inquiry, it is possible complaints may emerge. Even if they did, there is uncertainty as to whether liability
will rest with the state or the care provider for any financial compensation.
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Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated
Independent Auditor’s Report
Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 31 August 2021

Basis of Preparation

The Baptist Union has elected to apply tier 2 Public Benefit Entity reporting with Reduced Disclosure
Requirements (RDR) on the basis that it does not have public accountability and has total annual
expenses of equal or less than $30,000,000. All transactions in the Performance Report are reported
using the accrual basis of accounting. 

The Performance Report is prepared under the assumption that the entities will continue to operate in the
foreseeable future.

The Baptist Union of NZ is incorporated under the Baptist Incorporated Act 1923. The Baptist Union is a
grouping of Baptist Churches united with the general objects of the extension of the Kingdom of God and
the strengthening of all the associated churches.

The Baptist Union of NZ is a registered charity (CC 22731).

Consolidation
The financial statements are a consolidation of the entities that are within the control of the Baptist Union
of NZ. The Associations include Bay of Plenty & Eastland's Baptist Association, Canterbury Westland
Baptist Association, Northern Baptist Association, Otago Southland Baptist Association, Waikato Baptist
Association and Wellington Baptist Association. The other operating units of the Baptist Union is the
private training establishment (PTE), Carey Baptist College, the Baptist Insurance Fund, the Car Fund,
Baptist Youth Ministries Trust and Baptist Savings Trust Board. This year, the entities Northern Easter
Camp, Baptist Women's Board and the Baptist Research & Press have been added to the consolidation.

Government Contracts
The Carey Baptist College contracted service delivery with the Tertiary Education Commission (TEC) is
based on an annual Investment Plan Funding. The College holds a TEC approved Funding Plan for 1
January 2020 to 31 December 2021. The college governance are not aware of any significant expected
variations to its approved Funding Plan.

Exchange Transactions
Revenue from student fees are recognised under the tripartite agreement with the Public Trust (Student
Fee Protection Trustee), the student and Carey Baptist College. All applicable student fees are held by the
Public Trust and are earned on a monthly basis over the term of the student course.

Property Lease returns are earned based on the share of the operating units investment in the commercial
property venture.

Non Exchange Transactions
Revenue from unsolicited donations are recording in the comprehensive income when receipted. Grant
income for use or return contracted authorised funding is recorded as a current liability. For this source of
funding, the grant revenue is recognised in comprehensive income when the funds are spent on the
authorised purpose. Grant or donation income, with an authorised purpose, but no contractual right of
return, are recognised fully in the year of receipt, as restricted revenues.

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 7

Independent Auditor’s Report
Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated

Notes to the Performance Report
For the year ended 31 August 2021

19 Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd

20 Contingent Liabilities
Royal Commision of Inquiry

Baptist Union owns 100% of the shares in Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd, who is the trustee for the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme. The Baptist Union has control through sole ownership but does not directly benefit
financially but the pastors of the member churches receive the benefit. Therefore no consolidation of these
entities have been made in this Baptist Union Consolidated reporting. The Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd as
owner of the Baptist Union Superannuation Scheme is not a registered charity, but the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme is a registered charity CC27709.

A Royal Commission of Inquiry into Historical Abuse in State Care and in the Care of Faith-based Institutions was 
established by the Government on 12 November 2018. The work of the Inquiry commenced in 2019 and will 
continue for a number of years.

The Inquiry is empowered to look into abuse alleged to have happened in faith based settings over the 50 year
period from 1 January 1950 to the end of 1999. Although the Inquiry may make findings of fault, it has no power
to determine the civil, criminal, or disciplinary liability of any person.

Whilst Baptist Union currently has had no formal complaint made against it resulting from the publicity generated
by the Inquiry, it is possible complaints may emerge. Even if they did, there is uncertainty as to whether liability
will rest with the state or the care provider for any financial compensation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated

Notes to the Performance Report
For the year ended 31 August 2021

19 Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd

20 Contingent Liabilities
Royal Commision of Inquiry

Baptist Union owns 100% of the shares in Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd, who is the trustee for the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme. The Baptist Union has control through sole ownership but does not directly benefit
financially but the pastors of the member churches receive the benefit. Therefore no consolidation of these
entities have been made in this Baptist Union Consolidated reporting. The Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd as
owner of the Baptist Union Superannuation Scheme is not a registered charity, but the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme is a registered charity CC27709.

A Royal Commission of Inquiry into Historical Abuse in State Care and in the Care of Faith-based Institutions was 
established by the Government on 12 November 2018. The work of the Inquiry commenced in 2019 and will 
continue for a number of years.

The Inquiry is empowered to look into abuse alleged to have happened in faith based settings over the 50 year
period from 1 January 1950 to the end of 1999. Although the Inquiry may make findings of fault, it has no power
to determine the civil, criminal, or disciplinary liability of any person.

Whilst Baptist Union currently has had no formal complaint made against it resulting from the publicity generated
by the Inquiry, it is possible complaints may emerge. Even if they did, there is uncertainty as to whether liability
will rest with the state or the care provider for any financial compensation.
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Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated
Independent Auditor’s Report
Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 31 August 2021

Employee Entitlement
Provision for holiday pay reflects annual leave owing to staff at balance date and is measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The board has assessed employee sick leave
entitlements and the occurrence of leave requests above any annual entitlement, for the inclusion of
material obligation. No material obligation is known to the board at the time of adopting these financial
statements.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
All amounts are recorded exclusive of GST, except for Debtors and Creditors which are stated inclusive of
GST.

Income Tax
The Baptist Union is wholly exempt from New Zealand income tax having fully complied with all statutory
conditions for these exemptions.

Bank Accounts and Cash
Bank accounts and cash in the Statement of Cash Flows comprise cash and bank balances and term
deposits with a maturity date less than 30 days. Most bank funds are held with either trading banks or
Christian Savings. Christian Savings has been rated by Fitch Ratings Inc as a B+. Term deposits held with
a maturity date of over 90 days have been reclassified as term investments.

Changes in Accounting Policies
Comparatives for the prior year have been reclassified where required or restated for introduced entities.
There have been no changes in accounting policies. All accounting policies have been applied on the
same basis as the prior year.

Fixed Assets
Fixed assets, other than land and some buildings, are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.

No fixed assets are recorded as available for sale. The Baptist Union governing council is not aware of any
impairment provision being required on any class of fixed assets.

Depreciation
Depreciation has been calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets.

Debtors 
Debtors have been recorded at their net realisable value.

Revenue Recognition
Income is recognised when invoiced, or receipted, except where income is received in advance. Income in
advance is stated as a current liability where the funds have not yet been expended, according to the
authorised purpose, and those funds would be required to be repaid to the funder.

Income Tax Exemption
Section CW41 & 42 of the Income Tax Act 2007 exempt income tax, on an organisation registered with
the Charities Commission, and applying income to its charitable purpose. The Union has income tax and
charitable status through its registration with the Charities Commission on the 9th April 2008. 

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 8
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Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated
Independent Auditor’s Report
Statement of Accounting Policies
For the year ended 31 August 2021

Accounting For Investments in Associates

The share of Investments in associates, where the Union is a minority partner, but with a representation on
the governance, is accounted for using the equity share method. The financial reporting of the associates
are using registered valuations and the associate assets are mainly freehold commercial property. The
risks associated with these investments are those relevant to the market demand for commercial property
leasing and ownership. No investment assets are recognised as available for sale. The Baptist Union
governing council is not aware of any impairment to its investments, and can reasonably expect that a net
realisable value would be comparable to the registered valuations.

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 9
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Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated

Notes to the Performance Report
For the year ended 31 August 2021

19 Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd

20 Contingent Liabilities
Royal Commision of Inquiry

Baptist Union owns 100% of the shares in Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd, who is the trustee for the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme. The Baptist Union has control through sole ownership but does not directly benefit
financially but the pastors of the member churches receive the benefit. Therefore no consolidation of these
entities have been made in this Baptist Union Consolidated reporting. The Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd as
owner of the Baptist Union Superannuation Scheme is not a registered charity, but the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme is a registered charity CC27709.

A Royal Commission of Inquiry into Historical Abuse in State Care and in the Care of Faith-based Institutions was 
established by the Government on 12 November 2018. The work of the Inquiry commenced in 2019 and will 
continue for a number of years.

The Inquiry is empowered to look into abuse alleged to have happened in faith based settings over the 50 year
period from 1 January 1950 to the end of 1999. Although the Inquiry may make findings of fault, it has no power
to determine the civil, criminal, or disciplinary liability of any person.

Whilst Baptist Union currently has had no formal complaint made against it resulting from the publicity generated
by the Inquiry, it is possible complaints may emerge. Even if they did, there is uncertainty as to whether liability
will rest with the state or the care provider for any financial compensation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

1 Analysis of  consolidated financial performance  Aug 2021  Aug 2020

Baptist Union (126,015) (30,937) 
Carey Baptist College (137,546) (171,219) 
Church and Trust Accounting Services Ltd 39,885 43,936
Baptist Childrens Trust (17,734) 89,226
Baptist Associations 29,377 (162,864) 
Car Fund (774) (3,276) 
Baptist Insurance Fund 288,882 297,043
Baptist Youth Ministries Trust 3,011 (3,029) 
Baptist Research & Press (1,306) 4,393
Baptist Women's Board (1,411) 22
Northern Easter Camp 74,724 (9,749) 
Baptist Savings Trust Board 73,010 (791) 
Total Net Surplus / (Loss) for the year (details below) 224,102 52,754

1.1 Baptist Union  Aug 2021  Aug 2020

Revenue received
Church Giving & Donations 880,451 867,797
Grants & Legacies 144,527 7,122
Interest & Commission 118,478 114,976
Other Income 195,288 233,324
Dividends 807 189,907
Sales 139,542 196,212
Revaluation 0 0

1,479,092 1,609,338
Less expenses
Personnel costs 913,328 1,026,131
Administration costs 386,868 366,552
Building Costs 51,866 81,009
Grants Paid 16,000 42,000
Interest expense 32,373
Cost of Sales 0 43,059
Depreciation 204,672 81,524

1,605,107 1,640,275
Baptist Union Net Profit (Loss) (126,015) (30,937) 

1.2 Carey Baptist College  Aug 2021  Aug 2020

Revenue Received
Grants & Donations Received 370,376 362,090
Government Funding 934,312 869,320
Interest 32,509 52,519
Other income 552,435 555,788
Student Fees 977,752 864,627

2,867,384 2,704,344
Expenses paid
Volunteer & Employee related costs 2,032,639 1,886,838
Costs related to providing goods or services 972,291 988,724

3,004,930 2,875,563

Carey Baptist College Net Surplus (Loss) (137,546) (171,219) 

Baptist Union of New Zealand - Consolidated

Notes to the Performance Report
For the year ended 31 August 2021

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 10
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Notes to the Performance Report
For the year ended 31 August 2021

19 Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd

20 Contingent Liabilities
Royal Commision of Inquiry

Baptist Union owns 100% of the shares in Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd, who is the trustee for the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme. The Baptist Union has control through sole ownership but does not directly benefit
financially but the pastors of the member churches receive the benefit. Therefore no consolidation of these
entities have been made in this Baptist Union Consolidated reporting. The Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd as
owner of the Baptist Union Superannuation Scheme is not a registered charity, but the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme is a registered charity CC27709.

A Royal Commission of Inquiry into Historical Abuse in State Care and in the Care of Faith-based Institutions was 
established by the Government on 12 November 2018. The work of the Inquiry commenced in 2019 and will 
continue for a number of years.

The Inquiry is empowered to look into abuse alleged to have happened in faith based settings over the 50 year
period from 1 January 1950 to the end of 1999. Although the Inquiry may make findings of fault, it has no power
to determine the civil, criminal, or disciplinary liability of any person.

Whilst Baptist Union currently has had no formal complaint made against it resulting from the publicity generated
by the Inquiry, it is possible complaints may emerge. Even if they did, there is uncertainty as to whether liability
will rest with the state or the care provider for any financial compensation.
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19 Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd

20 Contingent Liabilities
Royal Commision of Inquiry

Baptist Union owns 100% of the shares in Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd, who is the trustee for the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme. The Baptist Union has control through sole ownership but does not directly benefit
financially but the pastors of the member churches receive the benefit. Therefore no consolidation of these
entities have been made in this Baptist Union Consolidated reporting. The Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd as
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Whilst Baptist Union currently has had no formal complaint made against it resulting from the publicity generated
by the Inquiry, it is possible complaints may emerge. Even if they did, there is uncertainty as to whether liability
will rest with the state or the care provider for any financial compensation.
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Carey Baptist College Foundation 

1.3 Church and Trust Accounting Services Ltd  Aug 2021  Aug 2020

Revenue Received
Exchange Revenue Received 380,425 346,740
Non Revenue Received 0 2,616
Total Revenue Received 380,425 349,356

Expenses paid
Employee costs 336,051 248,908
Administration costs 4,489 56,512
Total Expenses 340,540 305,420

Catas Net Surplus 39,885 43,936

1.4 Baptist Associations

 Aug 2021  Aug 2020
Revenue Received
Revenue Received 3,412,072 774,342

Expenses paid
Expenses paid - Other 2,467,447 232,110
Depreciation 24,877 14,087
Employee costs 890,371 691,010
Combined Associations Net Surplus / (Deficit) 29,377 (162,864) 

1.5 Baptist Insurance Fund  Aug 2021  Aug 2020

Exchange Revenue
Interest received 45,741 66,401
Premiums received 3,155,828 3,389,861
Total Revenue 3,201,569 3,456,263

Exchange expenses
Premiums Paid 2,574,024 2,839,385
Claims Paid 253,332 159,920
Claims reserve Provision 28,688 99,529
Consulting 55,000 55,000
Grants - Baptist Union (Note 17) 0 0
Interest Expense 1,643 5,386
Total expenses 2,912,687 3,159,219
Baptist Insurance Fund Net Surplus / (Deficit) 288,882 297,043

The Baptist Union has delegated a regional church oversight to six main regions being Northern, Waikato, Bay of
Plenty, Wellington, Canterbury & Otago. These are unincorporated entities, with management committees under
the control of the Baptist Union.

Carey Baptist College Foundation is a registered charity that receives donations on behalf of Carey Baptist 
College and forwards the donations to the College on approval of the Carey Baptist College Foundation board of 
trustees.

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 11
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1.6 Car Fund  Aug 2021  Aug 2020
Car Fund Income 2 126
Car Fund expenses (776) (3,401) 
Car Fund Net Surplus / (Deficit) (774) (3,276) 

1.7 Baptist Youth Ministries Trust  Aug 2021  Aug 2020
Income received 40,293 9,836
Expenses paid (37,282) (12,865) 
Baptist Youth Ministries Trust Surplus / (Deficit) 3,011 (3,029) 

1.8 Baptist Savings Trust Board  Aug 2021  Aug 2020
Income received 73,509 70,002
Expenses paid (499) (70,796) 
Baptist Savings Trust Board Surplus 73,010 (794) 

1.9 Baptist Research & Press  Aug 2021  Aug 2020
Income received 171 6,134
Expenses paid (1,477) (1,741) 
Baptist Research & Press Surplus / (Deficit) (1,306) 4,393

1.10 Baptist Women's Board  Aug 2021  Aug 2020
Income received 703 1,394
Expenses paid (2,114) (1,372) 
Baptist Women's Board Surplus (1,411) 22

1.11 Northern Easter Camp  Aug 2021  Aug 2020
Income received 790,452 142,249
Expenses paid (715,728) (151,998) 
Northern Easter Surplus 74,724 (9,749) 

1.12 Baptist Childrens Trust  Aug 2021  Aug 2020
Income received 328,017 379,583
Expenses paid (345,751) (290,357) 
Baptist Childrens Trust (17,734) 89,226

1.13 Analysis of Other Comprehensive Revenue & Expenses

372,000

1,865,066
(562,285) 

3,609,516
67,399

1,136,667

1,907,551
8,395,913

Baptist Children's Trust realized & unrealized gains on investment 
portfolio

Baptist Savings Trust gain on Christian Savings Limited share of equity
Transfer of the Car Fund to Christian Savings

Property revaluation of 473 & 475 Great Sth Rd - Carey Baptist College
Northern Baptist Assoc unrealized gains on investment portfolio
Canterbury Baptist Assoc church property introduced

Otago Sthld Baptist Assoc church property & church savings introduced

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 12
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19 Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd

20 Contingent Liabilities
Royal Commision of Inquiry

Baptist Union owns 100% of the shares in Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd, who is the trustee for the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme. The Baptist Union has control through sole ownership but does not directly benefit
financially but the pastors of the member churches receive the benefit. Therefore no consolidation of these
entities have been made in this Baptist Union Consolidated reporting. The Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd as
owner of the Baptist Union Superannuation Scheme is not a registered charity, but the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme is a registered charity CC27709.

A Royal Commission of Inquiry into Historical Abuse in State Care and in the Care of Faith-based Institutions was 
established by the Government on 12 November 2018. The work of the Inquiry commenced in 2019 and will 
continue for a number of years.

The Inquiry is empowered to look into abuse alleged to have happened in faith based settings over the 50 year
period from 1 January 1950 to the end of 1999. Although the Inquiry may make findings of fault, it has no power
to determine the civil, criminal, or disciplinary liability of any person.

Whilst Baptist Union currently has had no formal complaint made against it resulting from the publicity generated
by the Inquiry, it is possible complaints may emerge. Even if they did, there is uncertainty as to whether liability
will rest with the state or the care provider for any financial compensation.
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2 Property, Plant & Equipment  Aug 2021  Aug 2021  Aug 2021

Cost Accumulated 
Depreciation Book Value

Buildings 5,571,446 (843,550) 4,727,896
Library 1,128,109 (838,539) 289,570
Other equipment 2,582,807 (1,383,036) 1,199,772
Land 12,952,715 0 12,952,715
Motor vehicles 145,423 (85,778) 59,645

22,380,500 (3,150,903) 19,229,597

Property, Plant & Equipment  Aug 2020  Aug 2020  Aug 2020

Cost Accumulated 
Depreciation Book Value

Buildings 5,966,550 (1,289,240) 4,677,310
Library 1,086,410 (791,186) 295,224
Other equipment 1,420,377 (1,166,133) 254,244
Land 6,195,861 0 6,195,861
Motor vehicles 169,076 (83,112) 85,964

14,838,273 (3,329,670) 11,508,603

3 Investments  Aug 2021  Aug 2020

August Properties Shares & Current Account 5,154,916 5,154,916
Bank Term Deposit 637,010 105,000
Christian Savings Deposits 9,869,356 7,792,845
Loan 477 Limited 1,925,000 2,475,000
Loans 276,678 365,302
Partnership 525 Properties Limited 2,422,980 2,931,096
Shares Christian Savings Limited Note 18 15,298,844 13,433,777
Shares Howick Baptist Healthcare Limited 6,000,000 6,000,000
Shares in 477 Limited 2,176,304 861,598
Shares in Catas 9,500 9,500
Shares Iosis Limited 913,959 913,959
Shares Portfolio 5,669,931 4,973,599

50,354,478 45,016,592

4 Waikato Baptist Association

5 Commitments
There are no commitments as at balance date. (Last Year - nil)

6 Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees
There are no contingent liabilities or guarantees as at balance date. (Last Year - Nil)

The Waikato Association has not brought into the Statement of Financial Performance or Statement of Financial 
Position the operations and assets of the Findlay Park Trust and the Findlay Park Board. The Findlay Park Trust 
and the Findlay Park Board are registered charities. The Waikato Association does not receive a financial benefit 
from the Park and therefore has not been consolidated into the Baptist Union Consolidated Financial Statement.

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 13
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19 Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd

20 Contingent Liabilities
Royal Commision of Inquiry

Baptist Union owns 100% of the shares in Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd, who is the trustee for the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme. The Baptist Union has control through sole ownership but does not directly benefit
financially but the pastors of the member churches receive the benefit. Therefore no consolidation of these
entities have been made in this Baptist Union Consolidated reporting. The Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd as
owner of the Baptist Union Superannuation Scheme is not a registered charity, but the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme is a registered charity CC27709.

A Royal Commission of Inquiry into Historical Abuse in State Care and in the Care of Faith-based Institutions was 
established by the Government on 12 November 2018. The work of the Inquiry commenced in 2019 and will 
continue for a number of years.

The Inquiry is empowered to look into abuse alleged to have happened in faith based settings over the 50 year
period from 1 January 1950 to the end of 1999. Although the Inquiry may make findings of fault, it has no power
to determine the civil, criminal, or disciplinary liability of any person.

Whilst Baptist Union currently has had no formal complaint made against it resulting from the publicity generated
by the Inquiry, it is possible complaints may emerge. Even if they did, there is uncertainty as to whether liability
will rest with the state or the care provider for any financial compensation.

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 16
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7
 Aug 2021  Aug 2020

Tindall North Foundation Baptist Union 136,611 146,733
TAB Migrant Training Carey 22,762 29,065
Maori & Pacific Island Scholarship Carey (940) 1,828

158,433 177,626

8 Goods or Services Provided to the Entity in Kind
There have been none noted.

9 Assets Used as Security for Liabilities
There have been none noted.

10 Guarantee

11  Assets Held on Behalf of Others

12  Related Party Disclosures

There were no other transactions involving related parties during the financial year. 

13  Events After the Balance Date
There were no events that have occurred after the balance date that would have a material impact on
the Performance Report. (Last Year - Nil)

14 Ability to Continue Operating
The governance have considered the going concern principle and believe to the best of their knowledge
that the organisation has resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future.

15 Correction of Errors
The governance are not aware of any material errors requiring correction in the financial statements.

Significant Grants and Donations with a Use or Return Clause which have been recorded as a liability.

The Baptist Union provided a guarantee to the Bank of New Zealand on the Howick Baptist Healthcare Limited, 
restricted over the assets.

The property assets are held on behalf of churches. The Baptist Union of NZ is the property trustee for its 
member churches.

The Baptist Union receives unsolicited donations from it's independent constituted member churches. The Union
provides support to its member churches by way of training leadership personnel, resources, and administration
advice. The union does not have a direct control over the governance of the member churches nor can it direct
any benefit to itself. The Baptist Union is the property trustee for the member church's property assets, for the
purpose of guardianship, and not control of the church.
The Baptist Union has regional associations that exist to support a regional group of churches. The Baptist Union
and the associated Christian Savings exist to support the development of the Baptist churches of NZ. While the
Baptist Union, Christian Savings, and the Baptist churches are a supportive religious affiliation, they are all
separately governed, and thus not consolidated. Each of these separately governed entities report to the
charities commission under their own registration.

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 14
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20 Contingent Liabilities
Royal Commision of Inquiry

Baptist Union owns 100% of the shares in Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd, who is the trustee for the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme. The Baptist Union has control through sole ownership but does not directly benefit
financially but the pastors of the member churches receive the benefit. Therefore no consolidation of these
entities have been made in this Baptist Union Consolidated reporting. The Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd as
owner of the Baptist Union Superannuation Scheme is not a registered charity, but the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme is a registered charity CC27709.

A Royal Commission of Inquiry into Historical Abuse in State Care and in the Care of Faith-based Institutions was 
established by the Government on 12 November 2018. The work of the Inquiry commenced in 2019 and will 
continue for a number of years.

The Inquiry is empowered to look into abuse alleged to have happened in faith based settings over the 50 year
period from 1 January 1950 to the end of 1999. Although the Inquiry may make findings of fault, it has no power
to determine the civil, criminal, or disciplinary liability of any person.

Whilst Baptist Union currently has had no formal complaint made against it resulting from the publicity generated
by the Inquiry, it is possible complaints may emerge. Even if they did, there is uncertainty as to whether liability
will rest with the state or the care provider for any financial compensation.
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16 Reconciliation of the Net Surplus / (Deficit) to the Net Operating Cashflow

 Aug 2021  Aug 2020

Net surplus / (deficit) for the year
         per statement of Comprehensive Income 224,100 52,755

224,100 52,755
Add / (Less)  Non cash items
Depreciation 420,435 251,918
Loss / (Gain) on fixed asset sales (154,915) 0
Transfers to (from) reserves 58,498 144,156
Investments revalued 0 (141,069) 
Total non cash items 324,017 255,005

Add / (Less)  Working capital movements
Decrease (Increase) Receivables 380,099 565,598
Decrease (Increase) Stock 774 (4,716) 
Increase tagged income 0 0
Movements in Reserves 0 (10,000) 
Decrease / (Increase) in Other current assets (81,286) (166,412) 
Increase (decrease) Payables 99,928 (188,568) 
Total working capital movements 399,515 195,902

Net Cash inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities 947,632 503,661

17

 Aug 2021  Aug 2020

Baptist Associations 29,377 (162,864) 
Baptist Childrens Trust (17,734) 89,227
Baptist Insurance Fund (1,118) 7,043
Baptist Research & Press (1,306) 4,393
Baptist Savings Trust Board 3,010 (794) 
Baptist Union of NZ (6,016) (10,936) 
Baptist Women's Board (1,411) 22
Baptist Youth Ministries Trust 3,011 (3,029) 
Car Fund (774) (3,276) 
Carey Baptist College 112,454 108,782
Church and Trust Accounting Services Ltd 29,885 33,936
Northern Baptist Easter Camp 74,724 (9,749) 
Other Introduced Activities 0
Total Comprehensive Revenue less Expenses 224,102 52,755

18 Shares in Christian Savings Ltd 15,298,844 13,433,777

The share investment by Baptist Savings Trust Board (12,433,777 shares) in Christian Savings Ltd (CSL)
represents 42.06% of total shares issued by Christian Savings Limited.  (2020: 45.16%) 

The Baptist Children's Trust shares (500,000) represents 1.71% share in CSL. 

Grants from the Baptist Union Insurance Fund and the Baptist Youth Ministries flows through to the Baptist Union 
and to the Carey College.  Below are the operating surplus (deficits) of each operating unit if these grant transfers 
were not eliminated.

Operating Unit Surplus (Deficit) after eliminating the inter-unit transfer of grants

The Northern Baptist Assoc. shares (500,000) represents 1.71% share in CSL. 

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 15
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19 Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd

20 Contingent Liabilities
Royal Commision of Inquiry

Baptist Union owns 100% of the shares in Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd, who is the trustee for the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme. The Baptist Union has control through sole ownership but does not directly benefit
financially but the pastors of the member churches receive the benefit. Therefore no consolidation of these
entities have been made in this Baptist Union Consolidated reporting. The Baptist Retirement Trustee Ltd as
owner of the Baptist Union Superannuation Scheme is not a registered charity, but the Baptist Union
Superannuation Scheme is a registered charity CC27709.

A Royal Commission of Inquiry into Historical Abuse in State Care and in the Care of Faith-based Institutions was 
established by the Government on 12 November 2018. The work of the Inquiry commenced in 2019 and will 
continue for a number of years.

The Inquiry is empowered to look into abuse alleged to have happened in faith based settings over the 50 year
period from 1 January 1950 to the end of 1999. Although the Inquiry may make findings of fault, it has no power
to determine the civil, criminal, or disciplinary liability of any person.

Whilst Baptist Union currently has had no formal complaint made against it resulting from the publicity generated
by the Inquiry, it is possible complaints may emerge. Even if they did, there is uncertainty as to whether liability
will rest with the state or the care provider for any financial compensation.
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New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society
Te Iwi Kaikawe Rongopai O Nga Hahi Iriiri O Aotearoa

Legal Name of Entity: New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society

Other Name of Entity (if any): Tranzsend

Type of Entity and Legal Basis (if any): Incorporated Society

Registration Number: CC 22737
Registration Date: 9th April 2008

Entity Structure: 

Contact details

  Physical Address: 473 Great South Rd, Penrose, Auckland  1061
  Postal Address: P O Box 12-149, Penrose, Auckland 1642
  Phone 09 526 8444
  Email / Website Email : info@nzbms.org.nz

https://www.nzbms.org.nz/

Governance Members Alan Kevin Jamieson (General Director)
Andrew Page (Tranzsend Team Leader)
David Allen (Chair / President)
David Auty
David Moko
George Wieland
Lynette Davis
Nigel Cottle
Sharon Scarrow
Susan Barrett

The Baptist Union of New Zealand is made up of an Assembly of representatives of the individual member
bodies. They in turn appoint a Mission Council which is responsible for work and is directly accountable to the
Assembly in all matters of administration, policy and overseas workers. The Assembly also votes in officers of
the Union comprising of President, Vice President, the General Director and the Tranzsend Team Leader.

Entity Information
For the year ended 31 August 2021

Entity's Purpose or Mission: 

We seek to encourage, mobilise and resource NZ Baptists - indiviudals and churches - to wherever in the
world that God may direct.

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 2
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Page   3 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Mission Council of the New Zealand (NZ) Baptist Missionary Society For the year ended 31 
August 2021 
 

Unqualified Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the NZ 
Baptist Missionary Society on page 4 to 14, which 
comprises the balance sheet as at 31 August 2021 and 
the statement of comprehensive revenue and expenses, 
statement of movements in equity & reserves and 
statement of cash flows for the year ended, and notes 
to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of the NZ 
Baptist Missionary Society as at 31 August 2021 and 
its comprehensive revenue, expenses and its cash 
flows for the year ended, in accordance with Public 
Benefit Entity Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime. 
 
Basis for an Unqualified Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) 
(ISAs (NZ)). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described below in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the NZ Baptist Missionary Society in accordance 
with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised) 
Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by 
the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no other 
relationship with, or interests in, the NZ Baptist 
Missionary Society. 
 
Restriction on Responsibility 
 
This report is made solely to the Council, as a body, in 
accordance with section 42F of the Charities Act 2005, 
and their deed of incorporation. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the Council 
those matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Council as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 
 
 

 
Governance Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements 
The governance is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Public Benefit Entity NZ IPSAS 
Standards with the Reduced Disclosure Regime and 
for such internal control as the governance determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, the governance 
is responsible for assessing the entity's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the governance 
either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (NZ) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.   
A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements is located at 
the XRB’s website at 
http://www.xrb.govt.nz/standards-for-assurance-
practitioners/auditors-responsibilities/audit-report-8/ 

 

 

 

 

_____________________  
Charity Integrity Audit Ltd,  
Director: Peter Conaglen 
Chartered Accountants South Auckland 
28th October 2021 
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New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society
Te Iwi Kaikawe Rongopai O Nga Hahi Iriiri O Aotearoa
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue & Expenses
For the Year ended 31 August 2021

2022 Budget 2021 Actual 2021 Budget

Income
Giving - Non-exchange transactions
Team Support 662,388 802,913 860,000
General Donations 164,760 141,988 101,693
Project Donations 9,996 12,294 18,791
Specified Donations 0 0 0
Prayer & Self Denial Appeal 400,000 590,879 400,000
Christmas Angel Appeal 0 17,418 30,000
Mission Boxes 4,000 5,806 4,000
BMF Donations 30,000 69,907 27,000
Total Giving 1,271,144 1,641,204 1,441,484
Other
Legacies 0 0 0
Interest Exchange Transaction 53,760 68,422 54,352
Sales 0 0 0
Miscellaneous Income 192 375 50,183

53,952 68,798 104,535
Funding Income
Banzaid Donations & Grants 18,000 19,702 11,065
Tripura - from Legacy 0 0 0
Student Sponsorship Donations 0 0 0

18,000 19,702 11,065

Total Income 1,343,096 1,729,704 1,557,084

Less Operating Expenditure

NZ Office & Church Resourcing
Staff 406,522 304,978 357,048
Admin 193,885 150,229 219,285
Resourcing 64,632 56,170 47,828
Travel 41,676 21,539 59,800

706,715 532,916 683,960

Overseas Work
Staff 401,462 597,079 524,150
Admin 96,281 42,557 126,989
Funding 357,264 214,112 296,386
Travel 34,504 19,971 25,678

889,511 873,719 973,203

Total Operating Expenses 1,596,226 1,406,635 1,657,163

Operating Surplus / (Deficit) (253,130) 323,069 (100,079) 

Non Operating Items
Global Project Exp Freeset Subsidy 0 (136,000) 

Plus Other Non Operating Income
FS Staff Subsidy 107,104 112,418 110,000
Legacies 0 61,028 0

107,104 173,445

Net Surplus / (Deficit) to Accumulated Funds (146,026) 360,514 9,921

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 4
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New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society
Te Iwi Kaikawe Rongopai O Nga Hahi Iriiri O Aotearoa
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses
For the Year ended 31 August 2021

2021 2020
Actuals Actuals

Income
Giving - Non-exchange transactions
BMF Donations 69,907 37,649
Christmas Angel Appeal 17,418 31,728
General Donations 154,281 153,039
Mission Boxes 5,806 7,358
Prayer & Self Denial Appeal 590,879 277,335
Team Support 802,913 926,080
Total Giving 1,641,204 1,433,188

Other
Legacies 0 0
Interest Exchange Transaction 68,422 59,487
Miscellaneous Income 375 37,702

68,798 97,189
Funding Income
Banzaid Donations & Grants 19,702 23,344
Student Sponsorship Donations 0

19,702 23,344

Total Income 1,729,704 1,553,721

Less Operating Revenue

NZ Office & Church Resourcing
Staff 304,978 335,286
Admin 150,229 263,257
Resourcing 56,170 80,114
Travel 21,539 16,356

532,916 695,012
Overseas Work

Staff 597,079 788,244
Admin 42,557 79,072
Funding 214,112 188,439
Travel 19,971 21,399

873,719 1,077,154
Aid & Development

Staff 0 32,979
Admin 0 3,633
Funding 0 975
Travel 0 439

0 38,026

Total Operating Expenses 1,406,635 1,810,192

Operating Surplus / (Deficit) 323,069 (256,471) 

Non Operating Items

Non Operating Income
Asset Revaluation Reserve 0 0
FS Staff Subsidy 112,418 131,360
Legacies 61,028 535,294

173,445 666,654
Non Operating Expenses

Global Project Exp Freeset Subsidy (136,000) (161,900)
Write off Investment in Marketplacers Int Ltd 0 0

(136,000) (161,900)

Net Surplus / (Deficit) to General Funds 360,514 248,283

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 5
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New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society
Te Iwi Kaikawe Rongopai O Nga Hahi Iriiri O Aotearoa
Statement of Movement of Reserves & Equities
For the Year ended 31 August 2021

2021             2020              
Opening Balances
Accumulated Funds 522,069 274,377
Capital Reserves 435,240 435,240
Revenue Reserves 825,896 825,896

Add
Surplus/(Deficit) for Period 323,069 (256,471) 
Revenue Reserve Net Income (23,512) (30,540) 

Transfers to (from) Legacies 61,028 535,294

Closing Balances 2,143,789 1,783,796

Accumulated Funds 882,583 522,660
Capital Reserves 435,240 435,240
Revenue Reserves 825,967 825,896

2,143,789 1,783,796

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 6
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New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society
Te Iwi Kaikawe Rongopai O Nga Hahi Iriiri O Aotearoa
Balance Sheet
As at 31 August 2021

Note 2021              2020              
Accumulated Funds, Reserves & Trust Funds
Accumulated Funds 882,583         522,659         
Revenue Reserves 1 825,967         825,896         
Special Purpose Capital Funds 2 435,240         435,240         
Total Accumulated Funds, Reserves & Special Purpose Funds $2,143,789 $1,783,796

Current Assets
Bank 816,454         1,148,601      
Investments (Short term) 1,253,273      851,441         
Receivables & Prepayments 3 74,080           52,690           
Total Current Assets 2,143,807      2,052,732      

Non Current Assets
Investments 4 1,111,051      1,109,186      
Property, Plant & Equipment 6 13,524           17,217           
Total Non-Current Assets 1,124,575      1,126,404      

Total Assets 3,268,382      3,179,136      

Current Liabilities
Funds Held in Trust 7 698,011         1,011,277      
Payables 7 426,582         384,063         
Total Current Liabilities 1,124,594      1,395,339      

Net Assets $2,143,789 $1,783,796

Signed for and on behalf of the Council

…………………………………….. ……………………………………….
Chairman General Director

Date……………………… Date…………………….

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 7
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New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society
Te Iwi Kaikawe Rongopai O Nga Hahi Iriiri O Aotearoa
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year ended 31 August 2021

Note 2021 2020
Cash as received for (used for)

Operating Activities
Giving 1,641,359 1,514,016
Legacies 61,028 535,294
Receipts from providing goods or services 0 4,180
Interest, dividends and other investment receipts 49,598 59,162
Cash receipts from other operating activities 218 55,920
Banzaid 19,702 23,344
Payments to suppliers and employees (1,015,454) (1,278,032) 
Payments for overseas workers (687,618) (365,252) 
Cash flows from other operating activities (3,753) (8,774) 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from Operating Activites 10 65,079 539,858

Investing Activities
Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment 0 0
Receipts from sale of investments 0 350,000
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment (7,226) (7,462) 
Payments to purchase investments (390,000) (400,000) 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from Investing Activities (397,226) (57,462) 

Net Cash received / Used) in period (332,147) 482,396

Bank accounts and Cash
Opening Cash 1,148,601 666,205
Closing Cash 816,454 1,148,601

Net Change in Cash for Period (332,147) 482,396

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 8
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New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society
Te Iwi Kaikawe Rongopai O Nga Hahi Iriiri O Aotearoa
Notes to the Accounts   
For the Year ended 31 August 2021

Reporting Entity: The NZBMS is an organisation formed under a Deed dated 1954. The financial
statements and accompanying notes summarise the financial activities for the year ending 31 August
2020. The trust is a charitable organisation registered under the Charitable Trusts Act 1957, and the
Charities Act 2005.

Statement of Compliance: The financial statements of The NZBMS Society have been prepared in
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practices. [NZ GAAP] They comply with the Public
Benefit Entity NZ International Public Sector Accounting Standards [NZ IPSAS] as authorised by the
External Reporting Board under the Financial Reporting Act 2013.  

Reduced Disclosure Requirements: The organisation is eligible to apply tier 2 reduced disclosure
requirements given total expenditure is less than $30 million, and it does not have public accountability.
The entity has taken advantage of all available reduced disclosure requirements.

Measurement Base: The measurement and reporting of comprehensive income and financial position are
on an historical basis.  All figures are reported in New Zealand dollars.

Specific Accounting Policies: The following specific accounting policies, which materially affect the
measurement of financial performance and financial position of the trust, have been applied:

Government Contracts: Contracts with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs & Trade [MFAT] are based on a 3
year term with a schedule of monthly payments, and invoice dates. The organisation has recognised as
income all rights to invoice under the contract schedule of payments.

Exchange Transactions: Revenue from the traded goods and services are recognised when the agreed
goods & services have been delivered and the amount of revenue can be reliably measured. At this
stage, the benefits of the service and products has been delivered to the respective client.

Non-Exchange Transactions: Revenue from unsolicited donations are recorded in comprehensive income
when receipted. Grant income for use or return contracted authorised funding is recorded as a current
liability. For this source of funding, the grant revenue is recognised in comprehensive income when the
funds are spent on the authorised purpose. Grant or donation income with an authorised purpose, but no
contractual right of return, are recognised fully in the year of receipt, as restricted revenues.

Operating Lease Payments: These are leases where the lessor retains the risk and rewards of ownership
of an asset. Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive
Revenue on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

Cash & cash equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank balances, deposits held
at call with the Bank of NZ & the Christian Savings Ltd, and short term investments which are subject to
insignificant risks or changes in value.  

Receivables: Receivables are stated at estimated realizable value after providing against debts where
collection is doubtful.  Bad debts are written off in the period during which they are identified.

Investments: Investments are minority partnership property holdings and are included at cost. The council
are not aware of any impairment provisions required for investments.

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 9
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New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society
Te Iwi Kaikawe Rongopai O Nga Hahi Iriiri O Aotearoa
Notes to the Accounts   
For the Year ended 31 August 2021

100 100%
10 20%

3-5 20-33%
4 25%

Goods and Service Tax: The Financial Statements have been prepared on a GST exclusive basis, with
the exception of Accounts Receivable or Payable.  

Property and Equipment: Depreciable physical fixed assets are recorded at cost, or in the case of donated
assets, fair value at the date of receipt, less accumulated depreciation. Assets acquired with individual
values under $1,000 are not capitalised, but they are recognised as an expense in the Statement of
Comprehensive Revenue. The rates used are shown on the depreciation schedule forming part of the
accounts.  

No non-current assets are recognised as available for sale.  

The council assesses if any non-current asset is impaired and unable to generate an expected income
return for its use. Impaired assets are separately classified, if appropriate, and an impairment value is
taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Depreciation: Fixed assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight line basis.

Depreciation of all assets is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue. The estimated useful
lives for each major class of assets, in years & the respective annual depreciation percentages are:

Buildings
Office Fittings and Furniture
IT Equipment
Motor Vehicle

Employee Entitlements: Provision for Holiday Pay reflects annual leave owing to staff at balance date and
is measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

The board has assessed employee sick leave entitlements and the occurrence of leave requests above
any annual entitlement, for the inclusion of a material obligation. No material obligation is known to the
board at the time of adopting these financial statements.

Funds Held in Trust: Funds are held in trust where they have been received by the organisation for a
specified external individual or entity. Sufficient funds are held to enable the funds to be paid over to the
intended recipient.

Prior year comparatives: Where necessary, prior period comparative figures have been reclassified to
reflect the current year’s presentation.

Changes in Accounting Policies: There have been no material changes in accounting policies by the entity
during the period covered by these financial statements. All policies have been applied on a basis
consistent with those used in the previous year.

Contingent Liabilities: No contingent liabilities are known to exist at balance dated.(Last years: $0)

Related Party Transaction: There have been no material related party transactions during the financial
year for which these financial statements are prepared.

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 10
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New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society
Te Iwi Kaikawe Rongopai O Nga Hahi Iriiri O Aotearoa
Notes to the Accounts   
For the Year ended 31 August 2021

Note 1 Movement of Reserves
Revenue Reserves

                                Aug 21 Aug 20

Legacy Reserve 825,967 825,967

Total Revenue Reserves 825,967 825,967

Note 2 Special Purpose & Capital Funds
Equit Aug 21 Aug 20

Kershaw Grant 102,437 102,437
Bloomfield 118,331 118,331
A F Kennerly Estate 113,472 113,472
L F Dennis 1,000 1,000
Team Support Capital Fund 100,000 100,000

Total Trust Funds 435,240 435,240

Note 3 Receivables Aug 21 Aug 20

Prepaid Expenses 0
Inventory on Hand 43,587 43,587
Miscellaneous Debtors 16,632 1,265
Other receivables 13,865 7,839
Total Receivables 74,084 52,690

Related party receivables is an inter-ledger current account with Marketplacers International Ltd.
MPIL does not have assets, reserves, or current earning potential to repay all of its receivables.

Capital Commitments: Capital Expenditure contracted at balance date but not provided for totalled $0.

Accounting For Events After Balance Date: No significant events have occurred since balance date that
would require a change to the Financial Statements.

Taxation: The NZBMS Society is a charitable organisation and is exempt from Income Tax.

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 11
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New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society
Te Iwi Kaikawe Rongopai O Nga Hahi Iriiri O Aotearoa
Notes to the Accounts   
For the Year ended 31 August 2021

Note 4 Investments Aug 21 Aug 20

477 Great South Road 788,110 788,110
August Properties LP 296,076 296,076
Marketplacers International Ltd 0 0
Payroll Bond Deposit 26,865 25,000
Total Investments 1,111,051 1,109,186

Note 5 Financial Instruments
The Society incurs credit risk from financial institutions. There is no significant concentration of 
credit risk other than Christian Savings Ltd (CSL).
Investments in the CSL are carefully monitored and professionally managed by the CSL Board.
The Society has a prudent credit policy which is used to manage exposure to credit risk.
As at 31 August 2021 the Society estimates that there is no material difference between the
carrying value and the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities.

Note 6 Property, Plant & Equipment 2021 2021
Cost Accumulated Book

Depreciation Value

Computer Equipment 11,756 (4,912) 6,844
Furniture & Fittings 9,508 (9,508) 0
Motor Vehicles 45,412 (43,613) 1,799
Office Equipment 30,454 (29,914) 539
Overseas Equipment 26,592 (24,904) 1,688
Website 5,590 (2,936) 2,654
Total for 2021 129,312 (115,788) 13,523

Property, Plant & Equipment 2020 2020
Cost Accumulated Book

Depreciation Value

Computer Equipment 7,780 (2,044) 5,736
Furniture & Fittings 9,508 (9,508) 0
Motor Vehicles 45,412 (40,670) 4,742
Office Equipment 30,454 (29,422) 1,031
Overseas Equipment 26,592 (20,884) 5,709
Website 2,340 (2,340) 0
Total for 2020 122,086 (104,868) 17,217

The notes and accounting policies are integral to these financial statements. Page 12
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New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society
Te Iwi Kaikawe Rongopai O Nga Hahi Iriiri O Aotearoa
Notes to the Accounts   
For the Year ended 31 August 2021

Note 7 Payables Aug 21 Aug 20

Suppliers and Creditors 74,717 2,742
Employee Entititlements 31,948 31,948
Related entities 0 (16,632) 
Resettlement Funds 184,020 241,406
Home Assignment 143,848 129,331
GST (7,951) (4,732) 

426,582 384,063

Funds held in Trust Aug 21 Aug 20

Bangladesh Funds 71,995 352,097
Banzaid 15,513 14,514
Tripura 75,384 42,597
Student Sponsorship 134,879 91,242
Freeset 57,777 147,861
Personal gifts 5,251 2,390
BMF 266,489 266,489
Other 54,133 60,137
Marketplacers Ltd 16,591 33,951

698,011 1,011,277

Total Liabilities 1,124,594 1,395,339

Note 8 Contingent Liabilities
Capital Commitments

The year ended 31 August 2020 commitments were also nil.

Note 9 Additional Disclosures
Aug 21 Aug 20

Audit Fees 3,600 4,850

Depreciation
Buildings 0 0
Computer Equipment 3,464 2,116
Furniture & Fittings 0 275
Motor Vehicles 2,943 5,570
Non office Equipment 0 103
Office Equipment 492 2,162
Overseas Equipment 4,021 5,692

10,920 15,918

There are no significant capital expenditure commitments at year end or contingent liabilities.                              
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New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society
Te Iwi Kaikawe Rongopai O Nga Hahi Iriiri O Aotearoa
Notes to the Accounts   
For the Year ended 31 August 2021

Note 10 Reconciliation of Surplus / (Deficit) to Operating Activities

Aug 21 Aug 20

Net Surplus / (Deficit) per statement of 323,069 (256,471) 
        statement of comprehensive Income

Add/(less) non-cash items
Depreciation 10,920 15,918
Admin costs not cash (22) (9,627) 
Resettlement accrual 0 15,524
Home assignment accrual 11,339 22,556
Funds held in trust 0 143,103
Legacies classified as non operating 61,028 535,294
Other 360 360
Loss/(gain) on currency 0 9,652
Total non-cash items 83,624 732,781

Add/(less) movements in other working capital items
Decrease/(increase) in receivables (36,445) 169,052
Increase/(decrease) in payables (305,168) (105,505) 
Total working capital movements (341,613) 63,547

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 65,080 539,857
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